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Chairman’s Statement £ & i &

e

RESULTS

I, on behalf of the board of directors, announce that the Group’s
turnover was HK$439,544,000 (2010: HK$559,501,000) for the year
ended 31 March 2011. The loss attributable to equity holders of the
Company was HK$5,915,000 (2010: profit of HK$44,275,000) while
loss per share was HK2.28 cents (2010: earnings per share of HK17.06

cents).

DIVIDEND

The board of directors has recommended the payment of a final
dividend of HK3.0 cents per ordinary share (2010: HK3.0 cents)
with respect to the financial year ended 31 March 2011. Subject to
the shareholders’ approval at the annual general meeting held on 18
August 2011, the final dividend will be payable on 15 September
2011. Together with the interim dividend of HK1.0 cent per share, the
total dividend distribution for the financial year ended 31 March 2011
will be HK4.0 cents per share (2010: HK4.0 cents).

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year under review, the costs of frozen meat from overseas
surged in the first half of the year, whereas the demand for frozen
meat was weak in Hong Kong. The supply imbalance influenced the
operating environment of frozen meat trading. In the second half of
the year, the imbalance of market supply and demand as well as the
shortage of public cold storage space improved. Nevertheless, the
gradual recovery of selling prices still could not revert to a reasonable

level, and therefore affected the gross margin.
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Chairman’s Statement £ E & &

Frozen Meat Products

WH B 7 5

In addition, the Group has strategically held equity interests in an
associate, Four Seas Mercantile Holdings Limited (“FSMHL”),
which enable the Group to have a diversified business portfolio and
enjoy the share of profit from FSMHL. For the year ended 31 March
2011, the Group shared a profit after tax of HK$21,330,000 (2010:
HK$24,989,000).

Frozen Meat Trading

Frozen meat trading is the Group’s core business and its trading
products are well received by customers. During the year, coupled
with persistent increases in costs of frozen meat, the weak market
demand for frozen meat led to an adverse impact to the performance
of frozen meat trading. Nevertheless, through the Group’s solid
foundation, outstanding reputation, wealth of frozen meat trading
experience, extensive distribution network and close relationship with
suppliers, it maintains a competitive edge in the market and minimises

trading risks.
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HONG KONG FOOD INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED

Chairman’s Statement % & #f &

Investment in Food Business

FSMHL is one of the distinct and largest food enterprises in Hong
Kong and has a leading position in the food industry, with business
segments of food distribution, food manufacturing, “Four Seas” brand
products development, catering and food retailing. Through equity
investment in FSMHL, the Group is able to share FSMHL’s profits so
as to stabilise the Group’s earnings. As at 31 March 2011, the Group’s
equity interest in FSMHL increased to approximately 29.49%.

Distribution Business

The core business of FSMHL is food distribution. In the past 40 years
since its establishment, FSMHL has committed itself to food business
development. FSMHL distributes various kinds of food products from
around the world. It has been constantly striving to create synergistic
values for various brand names for distribution. All these enable
FSMHL to further strengthen its reputation and leading position in the
food industry of Hong Kong.

Manufacturing Business

FSMHL has a total of 20 manufacturing plants in both Mainland
China and Hong Kong producing a wide range of specialty food
products, including seaweed, candies, snacks and confectioneries,
peanuts, potato chips, instant noodles, ice-cream, biscuits, cakes,
chestnuts, ham, sausages, frozen dim sum, Tsubu Tsubu orange
drinks, coffee, milk tea, lemon tea, green tea, and Oolong tea.
Combining the production facilities with its comprehensive marketing
strategies, FSMHL has formed an interoperating platform to fulfill
the ever-changing needs in consumer market and thus enhancing its
competitiveness. Furthermore, FSMHL always emphasises on food
quality and its quality control management has complied with the

international requirements which has obtained various recognitions.
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Four Seas Brand

“Four Seas” brand, a proprietary premium brand name with enhancing
value developed by FSMHL, is one of the most famous brand names
in both Hong Kong and Mainland China, which is highly applauded
by consumers for its high quality. Moreover, “Four Seas” brand has
been highly recognised and accredited with various awards including
ranked no. 9 of “The Hong Kong’s 100 Most Influential Brands of the
Year 2010” from the “World Brand Laboratory”, “Judging Panel —
High Potential Corporate Brand” of “Hong Kong Corporate Branding
Award 2010” from Ming Pao Newspaper Limited and The Chinese
University of Hong Kong and “2010 7-Eleven Top Brands Campaign
Award”. FSMHL also received numerous accreditations in recognition
of its commitment to community services and corporate social
responsibility, including “Caring Company Award” for 9 consecutive
years as well as the 5 consecutive years’ honor to receive the “Hong
Kong Outstanding Enterprises 2010 from Economic Digest.

Catering Business

The Group’s catering business has experienced remarkable growth in
both Hong Kong and Mainland China. “Panxi Restaurant”, one of the
renowned garden restaurants located in Liwan District in Guangzhou,
China, was voted as “The Best Loved Restaurant” in the Southern
Guangdong Style Category of “Guangdong Food Carnival 2009” from
Sina.com. It was also named as one of the ten most famous restaurants
in Guangzhou and was one of the officially designated restaurants
for last year’s Asian Games in Guangzhou. Its lake-view gardens,
along with the prestigious South China’s landscape architecture and a
wide range of delicious Chinese cuisine, attracted crowds of tourists
and brought a new wave of business to “Panxi Restaurant”. In Hong
Kong, “Kung Tak Lam Shanghai Vegetarian Cuisine” was highly
recommended by “Michelin Guide Hong Kong Macau 2010” and
accredited with the “U Favorite Food Awards” by U Magazine and the
“Best-Ever Dining Awards 2011” by the Weekend Weekly magazine.
In addition, “Restaurant Shiki”, “Osaka Ohsho” and “Shousihuang”
sushi restaurant chain in Mainland China achieved encouraging

performance.
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HONG KONG FOOD INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED

Chairman’s Statement £ /& #f &

Retail Business

For retail business, FSMHL’s retail chain “Okashi Land” is a
renowned brand name. With its extensive retail network, “Okashi
Land” has commanded a leading position in the retail market of Hong
Kong and contributed a satisfactory performance. Capitalising the
strong powerful brand name of “Okashi Land”, FSMHL has received
numerous accreditations. As FSMHL will continue to develop its retail
business in both Hong Kong and Mainland China, the development of

retail business will certainly contribute more to its bottom line.

PROSPECTS

Facing the challenges to frozen meat market, the Group will explore
other business opportunities, proactively widen its product range
and enhance performance of frozen meat trading by integrating its
competitive advantages including long-standing good reputation, solid
foundation, stable financial position, wealth of trading experience and
extensive distribution network. Besides, the long-term investment in

FSMHL will continue to contribute earnings to the Group.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the board of directors, I would like to express my sincere
gratitude to our shareholders and our business partners for their
support and trust to the management team. My gratitude also extends
to our staff for their loyalty and diligence in the developments of the
business of the Group.

Dr. TAI Tak Fung, Stephen, GBS, JP
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2011
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Report of the Directors EE & &

The directors present their report and the audited financial statements HRGHEREEEFGRE D RARAA IAREEERE

of the Company and of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2011. ZR-—FEEAET— IR RER R
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES ERE ¥

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details RATZ LEEE PG R o 3T A & KRB
of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries and associates BN Al Z BE I R 2 B SR B0 B B k1S
are set out in notes 15 and 16 to the financial statements, respectively. B16 o ARG 2 EIEEENAE N LT KEB) -

There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s

principal activities during the year.

CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME Wik 4R

Pursuant to the special resolution passed at the annual general WMER _Z2-FENLA _HEGFZREAERG
meeting held on 2 September 2010 and approved by the Registrar LEBZENRERER -FE—FEIA T
of Companies in Hong Kong on 24 September 2010, the name HERHBARGMEREEME  KAFRZLZHBEH
of the Company was changed from “Four Seas Food Investment [ Four Seas Food Investment Holdings Limited P4 ¥

Holdings Limited PI# & i & HERA A F” to “Hong Kong Food I E A PR A F | B %% [ Hong Kong Food
Investment Holdings Limited F#HEMBEEEBRARAF" with Investment Holdings Limited 7 & i # & %A B

effect from 24 September 2010. A WEBR R BFEILA ST HAER -
RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS EH KL

The Group’s loss for the year ended 31 March 2011 and the state of REEBE _F-—E£=ZA=1—HILFEEZERE
affairs of the Company and the Group at that date are set out in the B A w] LA AR BN 3% B 2 B BOIR S ER B SR 40 H
financial statements on pages 40 to 120. 1208 Z BB MmN -

An interim dividend of HK1.0 cent per ordinary share was paid by the AN ] R SR ——4E— A R H YRS R R
Company on 5 January 2011. The directors recommend the payment IO o 3 o 2 Gl AR 4 B YR BE K B Il B
of a final dividend of HK3.0 cents per ordinary share in respect of the B30T ———FENHA A HLT KRR
year to shareholders on the register of members on 26 August 2011. 22 BEIR o TR B o O AR Y B B B I B IR DL R
This recommendation has been incorporated in the financial statements BIIARERS TE H R OR B8 R A 0 43 I o

as an allocation of retained profits within the equity section of the

statement of financial position.

—g——=58 9



HONG KONG FOOD INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED

Report of the Directors EE & H &

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION 19 5 B R B

A summary of the published results and the assets and liabilities of the AREFBEABMYBEECAIMGZEEREEMA
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited i BRI E 22 Pl 83 A% 0 S i P R > SEAE TR Y

financial statements, is set out below: B W

Year ended 31 March
BREZN=Z4—HIR4EE

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
R SRR ZRFAE ZRFN\E ZFRLF
HK$000 HKS$°000 HKS$°000 HKS$°000 HKS$'000

BT BT BT BT BT

RESULTS E5
REVENUE A 439,544 559,501 628,149 530,471 484,269
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR ERERF

THE YEAR (EH) (5,915) 44275 15,916 35,021 34,802

As at 31 March

R=EA=Z1+—H
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
S ZR%F ZFFAE ZRRAE ZRRLE
HK$’000 HKS$°000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$°000

BT BT BT BT BT

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES % & B i

TOTAL ASSETS M E 668,682 605,827 583,344 571,308 479,661
TOTAL LIABILITIES MR (195,897) (124,596) (134,664) (135,717) (74,461)
472,785 481,231 448,680 435,591 405,200

The information set out above does not form part of the audited IVt TEUREE 37 I o O A B B R A — Ry o

financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT Y& ~ B Bk i

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the A SEE Y~ RE TRk AR 2 B R
Group during the year are set out in note 14 to the financial statements. B R R4 -

SHARE CAPITAL B AR

There were no movements in either the Company’s authorised or ARy ] 5 R SR AR B O BEAT IR A AR 1 I S A ) o
issued share capital during the year.

10  ANNUAL REPORT 2011
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Report of the Directors EE & H &

RESERVES it 4
Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of the Group AR RE Y > AT S AR B Rl A 2 5 BRI 4
during the year are set out in note 29(b) to the financial statements and N BB R sE200) R AE B RERS s ) 3 o

in the consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES w3t 23 IR Gkt fi

At 31 March 2011, the Company’s reserves available for distribution, R ——FE=ZH=+—H  RBEEHEHA A5G E
calculated in accordance with the provisions of Section 79B of the TOBREFTSE » A2 W) W] 4k 43 IR 2 fik 45 563,418,000
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, amounted to HK$63,418,000, of JC > HH17,788,00095 7T T 8w AF 2y A4 BE i K 9 i
which HK$7,788,000 has been proposed as a final dividend for the B o

year.

BORROWINGS i X

Details of the Group’s bank borrowings at the end of the reporting AR N ) OR 2 SRAT AR SRR R R B % R A
period are set out in note 25 to the financial statements. B 5E25 °

=585 11



HONG KONG FOOD INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Report of the Directors EE & H &

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year were:

Executive directors:

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman)

Takeshi NOMAGUCHI (Managing Director)
(Resigned on 24 February 2011)

MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis (Managing Director)

TAI Chun Leung

YIP Wai Keung

TSE Siu Wan

LAI Yuk Chuen

Independent non-executive directors:

CHAN Kay Cheung
LAN Yee Fong, Steve John
LUI Shing Ming, Brian

In accordance with article 105(A) of the Company’s articles of
association, Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, Mr. Tse Siu Wan and Mr. Lai
Yuk Chuen will retire and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-

election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from Mr. Chan Kay Cheung, Mr. Lan Yee Fong, Steve John and
Mr. Lui Shing Ming, Brian pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) and still

considers them to be independent.

ANNUAL REPORT 2011
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BEERRREERERAR

Report of the Directors EE & & &

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS YR A A

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual AR A ) NI S BN P I RO AR K| b B B 2 W
general meeting has a service contract with the Company which is not F AT AR A W 4R Y A% b i A 2R AR (3
determinable by the Company within one year without payment of EBRAN) 2 B A 4 -

compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION A 4

The directors’ remuneration is determined by the Company’s board FREWETITHARAAFEFORBEERZRE &
of directors with reference to directors’ duties, responsibilities and - BHEREEZ 2L > URKREEGFMNE B &
performance and the results of the Group, and the remuneration RE o T I B AR B BN B I T ROR B

committee of the Group. Details of remuneration of the directors and WMEMES - HFMZ B G ERBEEWFEHER
senior management are set out in note 8 to the financial statements. R ARERAEERMEIN -

Particulars of the duties and responsibilities of the remuneration
committee are set out in the “Corporate Governance Report” of this
annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS FHRRNERIZH

No director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in TR > 45 T S5 M S 7 AR 2 5] g A T B ) A D
any contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the Rl e Z M AREFMEEN S EEBERZAHN
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the year. o R M e A T ORHE RS o

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S o2 B dg 0 A7 BN HUR R 2 i) AT
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS ] 8% 1 1 I A B A B Bt A =2 B 2

IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING ®ERE
SHARES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2011, the interests and short positions of the directors N ——E=H=+—H  KAFNBREGEHE X

and chief executive of the Company in the shares and underlying WY 5B 352G T B BB P AR B 2 Bt W it 6%
shares of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within SRR BRI SR 10T k2 b T AT N AT

the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance PR S e Sy HI) ([REHESpH] ) Hm e AR AT K
(the “SFO”)), as recorded in the register required to be kept by the WP s AAR & ES LEETBABIRARA G 5

Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or as notified to the Company HEMMHEBEER (ER2RGEEEIEEMN) ([B5

and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities T BB ) SBXVER) BeAn S #H B ey 2 RE 38 B ik
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) HEIT :

contained in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules were as follows:

—g——=585 13



HONG KONG FOOD INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED

Report of the Directors EE & % &

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S Y8 A
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS fif A 6 3 1
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING ¥R
SHARES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY

ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (continued)

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company T AR 2 ) 3 BBy 2 A
Number of shares held
Pi ¥ BBy 2 B H
Personal Corporate
interests interests Total interests
(held as (interests of Trust and as % of the
beneficial controlled similar Total  relevant issued

Name of director owner) corporation) interests interests share capital

L £ B A AN
T A 22 (B AR i it B L HMC#n

HHHR (B 154 2Hi%) fi 2 WEsH RATAR

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen Hm 6,730,000 53,095,177% 30,914,000 90,739,177 34.96%

TAI Chun Leung HER - - 30,914,000 30,914,000 11.91%

YIP Wai Keung E g 736,360 - - 736,360 0.28%

CHAN Kay Cheung BB 800,000 - - 800,000 0.31%

LAN Yee Fong, Steve John [ £ 9] 800,000 - - 800,000 0.31%

Notes: Mt -

(i) Out of the 53,095,177 shares, 187,927 shares, representing 0.072% of (i) BEEE53,095, 1778 e > Hrb187,927 e e - Al AR
the Company’s issued share capital, are beneficially owned by Four AT CBATIRAR 20.072% > 5 H PO 4 A R A
Seas Mercantile Holdings Limited (“FSMHL”). Special Access Limited (TPUPHAEE |) B2 A - MUMWERE=r2—2 T
(“SAL”) and Careful Guide Limited (“CGL”) in aggregate hold more B4T A i Special Access Limited ([ SALJ) B Careful
than one-third of the issued share capital of FSMHL. SAL is wholly Guide Limited ([CGLJ) #H ° SALJS M 3 8 W+ &
owned by Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and his spouse, Dr. Wu Mei Yung, HETHRAMEL2EHE s CGLUIH—2MfE -
Quinly; whereas CGL is owned by a discretionary trust, the Tai Family BRFREFEEER » R G EH 2 A\ S5 REe
Trust, the eligible beneficiaries of which include members of the family WL REFEBTWPEAM L2 RKERE - HiL > @pEw
of Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and his spouse, Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly. T e H 32 7 56 25 T A % A v I o 4R I
Accordingly, Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and his spouse, Dr. Wu Mei FEARAG CBATRA187,927T B Z MRS Wi H R
Yung, Quinly, are deemed to have interests in those 187,927 shares of 52,907,250/ 4y > AEA A B BBEAT AR 2 20.38% >
the Company’s issued share capital held by FSMHL. The remaining JIHSALFRA » Hb > S WHE L R 22 S A
52,907,250 shares, representing 20.38% of the Company’s issued share AR e A MR Z R
capital, are owned by SAL, and Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and his
spouse, Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly, are therefore deemed to have interests
therein.

(i) The 30,914,000 shares, representing 11.91% of the Company’s issued (i) MEEE30,914,000 B s A AR CBITRARZ
share capital, are owned by CGL, whose shares are owned by a 11.91% » J3h— 2 REETE — MR KEETEER 2
discretionary trust, the Tai Family Trust, the eligible beneficiaries of CGL¥H » KA B2 a0 N\ G55 0 uig - R HE
which include members of the family of Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and THIRAM L2 RIEBE B > 8B4 2K
his spouse, Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly. Thus, Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen T WHEA LR B WA A Z HE2S o
and his spouse, Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly, are deemed to have interests
therein.

(iii) Such interests in the shares are held by CGL, a company controlled by (iii) R HER MR R KRG R R ZCGLIF A »
the Tai Family Trust under which Mr. Tai Chun Leung is a discretionary TR T RE 2 A N RO BB - MIBGES X
beneficiary. As a director of the Company, Mr. Tai Chun Leung is taken WEGp) > BERBAESBARAFES > FHibpid
to have a duty of disclosure in relation to such shares under the SFO. Ty JEURL S SR R R AR o

14  ANNUAL REPORT 2011



BEERRREERERAR

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (continued)

Long positions in the ordinary shares of an associated corporation

Directors’ interests in the equity of FSMHL are as follows:

Report of the Directors EE & & &

X = b
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EXx

AR
B

B AT
B B By 2 B i

> it
e

TR VB 2 I JBE OB By 2 % AT
FEFE PR PR B R

Number of shares held

P ¥ BBy 2 B H

Personal Corporate
interests interests Total interests
(held as (interests of Trust and as % of the
beneficial controlled similar Total  relevant issued
Name of director owner) corporation) interests interests share capital
2 R AR B A
T A 2 (P 2w i 6 B KDL HEeas
HPLR (F ) ZHitk) B B A AT 2 e
TAI Tak Fung, Stephen Wy - 196,478,000 82,000,000 278,478,000 71.28%
TAI Chun Leung Wi R - - 82,000,000 82,000,000 20.99%
YIP Wai Keung LR 680,000 - - 680,000 0.17%

Notes: Mtk

®

(ii)

(iii)

Of which, 81,250,000 shares, representing approximately 20.80% of
the issued share capital of FSMHL, are owned by SAL, which in turn is
wholly owned by Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and his spouse, Dr. Wu Mei
Yung, Quinly. Another 115,228,000 shares, representing 29.49% of the
issued share capital of FSMHL, are owned by Capital Season Investments
Limited, a company wholly owned by Advance Finance Investments
Limited (“AFIL”). Since AFIL is wholly owned by the Company, which
in turn Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, SAL, CGL and FSMHL in aggregate
hold more than one-third of the issued share capital of the Company,
and therefore, Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and his spouse, Dr. Wu Mei
Yung, Quinly, are deemed to have interests in the 115,228,000 shares of
FSMHL.

The shares, which represent 20.99% of the issued share capital of
FSMHL, are owned by CGL, whose shares are owned by a discretionary
trust, the Tai Family Trust, the eligible beneficiaries of which include
members of the family of Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and his spouse, Dr.
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly. Thus, Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and his spouse,
Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly, are deemed to have interests therein.

Such interests in the shares are held by CGL, a company controlled by
the Tai Family Trust under which Mr. Tai Chun Leung is a discretionary
beneficiary.

(i)

(iii)

Ih %8 JBe A vh 281,250,000 B4 - Al U ol 452 1B 2 3% 45
JBe AR K #120.80% > T py FEAE M e L 22 W S 1
L REWA ZSALFA « HAR115,228,000/8 B4 > A
DY P 4R B DA TR A 2 29.49% » HIl i Advance Finance
Investments Limited ([ AFIL ]) % % b J&§ A 5 Capital
Season Investments Limited T 7 A o B AFILTI A2
A RWERER  MAAFAHBZ402 -2 0BITR
A4y i SR M~ SAL ~ CGLE MM F5 A -
PRI It 0 7 e e 2 W S L et s B 1Y
YA 115,228,000/ % 1 2 25

b BBE Y 5 A D N 4 I R AT IR A 220.99% > TG
— RN - MR KR VA ZCGLIVH » KA
Tz NQHEREEEL R ErHI AL
KGR E o B > s i R 9 S W+
WA 2 A UL By Z i 2

% S5 T A7 M 2 P EQ R AR R T X CGLFR A >
A5 B T RE 2 A N 64 O LR -
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (continued)

Long positions in the ordinary shares of an associated corporation RHB RSB RS Z2ES (5)
(continued)
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All the interests stated above represent long positions in the shares of DL ER# s B2 A AT B2 HE - Kb

the Company. Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2011, none of LR EEN o R R ——FE=ZH=1+—H s KA
the directors and chief executive nor any of their associates had any A EELEROBEANBHRMEER B 2B A\

interests or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the T A A ) 3 AT o] R 1B v 1 Ay A B A e

Company or any of its associated corporations required to be disclosed SEAR IR G 5 I W B 640 ) 1 DA B 58 2 ATl i 25 3R IR
pursuant to the SFO. e

During the year ended 31 March 2011, none of the directors and MRERE——F=H=1—1H4EE > KAAFA#FEE
chief executive of the Company nor any of their respective spouses BE BTN B sk &4 B Z B B R B4R+ LWt
or minor children was granted or held options to subscribe for shares o Bl 7 5k B A VT R R AR A H) A =2 R R (2
in the Company (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), or had GBI EBEPYBXVER) s T a B RER -

exercised such rights.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE 00 Ry e B 2 A
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means AER s RATFWIER TREMAEERBESELEZE
of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted A8 8% R AR 2 T B i i AR AN | 2 ey A& 25 m
to any director or their respective spouses or minor children, or were PEBUR 25 BRAT A 5% 2 RER 5 A2\ W) s HAR A B g A
any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company, or any of W] JP 5T SP AT ] 2 HE DL B3 5 AR Ay A
its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the directors to fln > 2 SR o

acquire such rights in any other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ 3 B SR AN 2 i) B A Be AH BH B £
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS MR R HRA

IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

The register of substantial shareholders required to be kept under WIEGES I B GER Y EXVEBEI36ik 2 ERFE
Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO shows that as at 31 March 2011, ZEHEBRELMER R F——F=ZH =+ —
the following parties (other than the directors and chief executive of HoBEXHEBEBZAAREEEERITHE AR
the Company as disclosed above) had notified the Company of the b s DL AL BE AN T T HIME A A T BT R
following substantial shareholders’ interests or short positions, being ApaEsoEk Dl F2z FER RS RIRE

5% or more of the total issued share capital of the Company:

Number of shares held

Fi # B 2 94 H
Direct/ Family
personal interests Corporate
interests (interests of interests Total interests
(held as spouse or (interests of Trust and as % of the
beneficial minor controlled similar Total  relevant issued
Name of substantial shareholder owner) children) corporation) interests interests share capital
KB
i/ (RH% B HER iR 4G
LIN T R (P AR itk AW C &L

FERRAH (BR#H)  Th2HR) ZHis) UL & M At BT 2

SAL SAL 52,907,250 ® - - - 52,907,250 20.38%

CGL CGL - - - 30,914,000 30,914,000 11.91%

WU Mei Yung, Quinly LSS - 6,730,000 53,095,179 30,914,000 90,739,177 34.96%

HSBC International HSBC International

Trustee Limited Trustee Limited - - - 30,914,000 30,914,000 11.91%

Notes: Htak

(i) SAL is wholly owned by Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and his spouse, () SALVI AU R HFEFIRA L 28T Z
Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly. This interest is also included as a corporate A o JAE R TR [E F AR AT B AR
interest of Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen in the above section headed ] AR A A U 9 T By R R B A 2 W 2 K TR
“Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and/or short positions in B Bb A R R 2 A )RR
the shares and underlying shares of the Company or any associated
corporation”.

(ii) The shares, which represent 2.59% of the issued share capital of the (i)  BESEBEA > AR A R BB ATIRARZ2.59% » i i
Company, are beneficially held by Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen. Therefore, WL ERER - B > HETFWRAE LW R b
his spouse, Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly, is deemed to have an interest U B Z RERS o BURERS O BEGA [ 3 3 K i mifT
therein. This interest is also included as a personal interest of Dr. Tai BN R AR 24 ) s AT Ao A 356 305 1B IR 4 5 R IR 4y 2
Tak Fung, Stephen in the above section headed “Directors’ and chief RE2E T/ Bk A | 43 B vh BT B 38 A I A - 5 A
executive’s interests and/or short positions in the shares and underlying ZAH NHERS o

shares of the Company or any associated corporation”.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iii) Out of the 53,095,177 shares, 187,927 shares, representing 0.072% of
the Company’s issued share capital, are beneficially owned by FSMHL.
SAL and CGL in aggregate hold more than one-third of the issued share
capital of FSMHL. SAL is wholly owned by Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen
and his spouse, Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly; whereas CGL is owned by
a discretionary trust, the Tai Family Trust, the eligible beneficiaries of
which include members of the family of Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and
his spouse, Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly. Accordingly, Dr. Tai Tak Fung,
Stephen and his spouse, Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly, are deemed to have
interests in those 187,927 shares of the Company’s issued share capital
held by FSMHL. The remaining 52,907,250 shares, representing 20.38%
of the Company’s issued share capital, are owned by SAL, and Dr.
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and his spouse, Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly, are
therefore deemed to have interests therein. This interest is also included
as a corporate interest of Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen in the above section
headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and/or short positions
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or any associated

corporation”.

(iv) CGL is owned by a discretionary trust, the Tai Family Trust, the eligible
beneficiaries of which include members of the family of Dr. Tai Tak
Fung, Stephen and Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly. This interest is also
included as a trust and similar interest of Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen in
the above section headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and/
or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or
any associated corporation”.

(v) HSBC International Trustee Limited is the trustee of the discretionary
trust, the Tai Family Trust, referred to in Note (iv) above.

Save as disclosed above, to the best knowledge of the directors of the
Company, as at 31 March 2011, no person (other than the directors
and chief executive of the Company, whose interests are set out in the
above section headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and/or
short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or
any associated corporation”) had an interest and/or short position in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company did not have any outstanding options at the beginning
and at the end of the year under review. During the year under review,
no options have been granted under the share option scheme adopted
by the Company on 2 September 2002. Details of the share option
scheme are set out in note 28 to the financial statements.
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(i) b 4$53,095,177/8% B 3 b > Hor187,927/8% B4y o Al
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Dr. TAI Tak Fung, Stephen, GBS, JP, PhD (honoris causa), aged
63, has been an executive director of the Company since May 1997.
Dr. Tai is the chairman of the Group, in charge of corporate and
policy planning. Apart from being awarded the Gold Bauhinia Star
and Silver Bauhinia Star by the Government of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region (“HKSAR”), Dr. Tai has also been
appointed as Justice of the Peace. He holds the Visiting Professor
of South China Normal University and South China Agricultural
University, member of the Board of Trustees of Jinan University,
Honorary Doctorate of Philosophy of Morrison University in the
United States and Doctor of Philosophy in Business Administration
(honoris causa) of the Southern California University for Professional
Studies in the United States. He is a Standing Committee Member of
the National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference and a Standing Committee Member of the Guangdong
Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference. Dr. Tai holds several public positions, including the
president of the Hong Kong Foodstuffs Association, the president of
Hong Kong Japan Confectionery, Biscuit & Foodstuffs Association,
the chairman of the Hong Kong Guangdong Chamber of Foreign
Investors, the consultant of the China National Food Industry
Association, Economic Adviser of Jilin City, a member of the Greater
Pearl River Delta Business Council of the HKSAR, and a member
of the Commission on Strategic Development of the HKSAR. He
received a number of awards and accolades, including the World
Outstanding Chinese Award, the 30th Food Industry Distinguished
Service Award, the Award of the Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and
Fisheries of Japan for the Overseas Promotion of Japanese Food, the
Outstanding Contribution Award of the China National Food Industry,
the China Food Safety Annual Conference Award of Distinguished
Management Entrepreneur, the Top 10 Famous People of China
Innovative Branding Award, the Social Responsibility Contribution
Award, “Honourable Citizen of Shantou City”, “Honourable Citizen of
Guangzhou City” and “Honourable Citizen of Jilin City” in Mainland
China. He is also the founder and chairman of Four Seas Mercantile
Holdings Limited (“FSMHL”), an associated corporation of the
Company and the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, and a director of Careful Guide Limited and Special
Access Limited, both of which are the substantial shareholders of the
Company.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (continued)

Executive Directors (continued)

Mr. MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis, aged 55, has been an executive
director of the Company since July 1995. Mr. Man is the managing
director of the Group, responsible for the overall management
planning and control. Mr. Man has a Master of Commerce degree
from the University of New South Wales in Australia. He is also a
member of the CPA Australia and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He has gained extensive experience in finance and
accounting from overseas multinational corporations. Mr. Man joined
the Group in 1992. He is also an executive director of FSMHL.

Mr. TAI Chun Leung, aged 37, has been an executive director of
the Company since February 2004. Mr. Tai is the assistant managing
director of the Group, responsible for information technology, business
development and assisting the managing director with the daily
operation of the Group. He received his Bachelor of Commerce degree
from Macquarie University in Australia and a Master of Business
Administration degree from the Southern California University for
Professional Studies in the United States. He had worked for an
international accounting firm and joined the Group in 1998. Mr. Tai
possesses various experience in information technology, finance, sales,
marketing, merchandising and food manufacturing. He is a son of Dr.
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, the chairman and an executive director of the
Company.

Mr. YIP Wai Keung, aged 61, has been an executive director of the
Company since May 1997. Mr. Yip is responsible for the business
development of the Group. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Yip was
responsible for marketing and promotion activities in a Japanese food
company in Hong Kong. He has more than 30 years’ experience in
sales and marketing. Mr. Yip joined the Group in 1997. He is also an
executive director of FSMHL.

Mr. TSE Siu Wan, aged 50, has been an executive director of the
Company since August 1992. Mr. Tse is responsible for the food
quality control of the Group. He has extensive experience in food
manufacturing and factory production management. Mr. Tse joined the
Group in 1980. He is also a director and the general manager of Hong
Kong Ham Holdings Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of FSMHL.

Mr. LAI Yuk Chuen, aged 56, has been an executive director of the
Company since July 1995. Mr. Lai is responsible for the strategic sales
and marketing of the Group. He has extensive experience in trading
and marketing. Mr. Lai joined the Group in 1984.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. CHAN Kay Cheung, aged 64, has been an independent non-
executive director of the Company since October 1995. He is a
senior adviser of The Bank of East Asia, Limited, the vice chairman
of The Bank of East Asia (China) Limited and the chairman of
Shaanxi Fuping BEA Rural Bank Corporation. He possesses extensive
knowledge and experience in the banking industry. Mr. Chan is a
fellow member of The Hong Kong Institute of Bankers, a member of
the Process Review Committee for the oversight of the Hong Kong
Monetary Authority, a member of the Clearing and Settlement Systems
Appeals Tribunal, a member of The China Unionpay International
Advisory Group and an international senior economic consultant of
The People’s Government of Shaanxi Province. Mr. Chan is also an
independent non-executive director of China Electronics Corporation
Holdings Company Limited, Chu Kong Shipping Development
Company Limited and Shui On Construction and Materials Limited,
companies whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock

Exchange.

Mr. LAN Yee Fong, Steve John, aged 70, has been an independent
non-executive director of the Company since January 1998. He was
the chairman of Evergreen Consultants Limited, president of Inswire
Insurance Limited and chairman of Zurich Financial Services Group,
Hong Kong. Mr. Lan is the chairman of The Hong Kong Tuberculosis,
Chest and Heart Diseases Association. He is also working on the
Hospital Governing Committees of Ruttonjee Hospital, Tang Shiu
Kin Hospital and Grantham Hospital in Hong Kong. Mr. Lan is the
chairman of the management committee of Freni Care and Attention
Home. He is a graduate of The University of Hong Kong and a fellow
of The Chartered Insurance Institute. Mr. Lan has extensive experience
in the insurance industry with intensive involvement in corporate

development.

Mr. LUI Shing Ming, Brian, aged 51, has been an independent non-
executive director of the Company since September 2004. Mr. Lui
is currently the chairman of Cheong Ming Investments Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Lui
holds a Master Degree in Commerce from the University of New South
Wales, Australia. He is a fellow member of both the CPA Australia
and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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HONG KONG FOOD INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED

Report of the Directors EE & % &

PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR HREEREABEES N ()
MANAGEMENT (continued)

Senior Management AR AR

Mr. LEUNG Tin Chi, aged 47, is the financial controller and MR > 475k > BUEM B AERAFBE > A
company secretary, responsible for finance, accounting and company BB - st AR E T - BI04 A R E
secretarial affairs. Mr. Leung holds a Bachelor of Business degree R KRB ELEA s AENESHIASEE
from Swinburne University of Technology in Australia. He is also a WEFMATEE - PEAHBAYE 2G5 &8E -
member of the CPA Australia and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified WA — LY A I A A2 [ o

Public Accountants. Mr. Leung has extensive accounting experience.
He joined the Group in 1994.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS FEE SR

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers P AR RN » AREE AR RKEFER R E
accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total sales for the year. FH A AR 5 T A 4T 3 ) 4 6 5 B30 % o ARSR [ 1) L
Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for 91% 5% B3 R 3L JE B HE AT 2 BR IBE A A 45 ) A 4 B 4 R IR A
of the total purchases for the year and purchases from the largest 01% » HH PR RZ AEEREIT Z R4 EI0% ©

supplier included therein amounted to 80%.

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates or any AR T T 55 A A 2 AT AT B N s s AR AT i R (38
shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the directors, own more EHEITMBEA KA T CBIT AR %Y, ) W R
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial KREE A KRB LAt ERE P AT E SRS -

interest in the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES R B A B W R

The Group generally finances its operations with internally generated AREH B NBRBRS R ETEARBTER
cash flows and facilities granted by its principal bankers. As at 31 ZRESEEAEEEZME R_F—HF=H=1+—
March 2011, the Group had banking facilities of HK$461,700,000, of H oo ASH [ ¥EA 81715 8% 35461,700,0008 5T » H
which 32% had been utilised. The Group had a gearing ratio of 31% F1320R B c AEHPN - B——HFE=H=1+—
as at 31 March 2011. This is expressed as the total bank borrowings HZABERLZEE31% > 75 B8R 4715 2k 44 % Bl
to equity attributable to equity holders of the Company. Bank WEE R AR A FRER A & Z B - ARG E > AT
borrowings of the Group, denominated in Hong Kong dollars, are D e A S HE G > WEE AR FET T
mainly short term loans and trust receipt loans (the “Interest-Bearing BERERZEMEZ RETRE SR ([HMMNAE
Bank Borrowings™) at prevailing market interest rates. The Interest- ZHTER]D - B AR A Z AN E ZS
Bearing Bank Borrowings which are classified as current liabilities are FTERAR—ENER R HFE=H=1+—
repayable within one year. As at 31 March 2011, the Group held cash H > REHEHEE ZH 4 RBRS%M1E H 564,355,000
and cash equivalents of HK$64,355,000. There were no significant WETT o WA AR B Y > AN [ 2 B AR A 4 N I E R
changes in the Group’s contingent liabilities and no charges on the WA > T AS 4R ) 2 A W AR AT AT HE A o

Group’s assets during the year under review.

STAFF EMPLOYMENT HTHH

The total number of employees of the Group as at 31 March 2011 REEP —F——EZA=1—HZHEHEB THH
was 48. Remuneration packages are generally structured by reference BA8 N o IR B 3 B — fi% 2 2% i 3546k I A B R T
to market terms and individual qualifications. Salaries and wages are FEE o e TE e FE 3 5 Ho Al AH B X & i /g
normally reviewed annually based on performance appraisals and FAEME o AREE I LA B THREEHRE SRS

other relevant factors. The Group operates a mandatory provident fund # o

scheme which covers all the employees of the Group.
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PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF A2 ] B 2R 2 0 Bk
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY A

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed VNN e R T A D Y s = R |
or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the year. B AR A R B i S
SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT JE 2 A F I E

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and AR B8 A 2N B B A9 5 2 BB RE e i 1 =5 B A > A AR
within the knowledge of the directors, at least 25% of the Company’s HHEBEHY > EEBEABRANLESFEARAF 2
total issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of this TP CBEAT A HE 259 o

report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE e L]

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in RAF ZREFIREHBZ RN ARERAEH
the “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report. BHEIN -

AUDIT COMMITTEE HHZHE

The Company has an audit committee which was established in Aoy w2 T H w4 BRI SR 3.2 1R I ik
compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules for the purposes 3 > DL AZ IR B R A A 2 B AR e S TN R
of reviewing and providing supervision over the Group’s financial Yo WHEZREHGHARLDF W L IEBATEF A -

reporting process and internal controls. The audit committee comprises
the independent non-executive directors of the Company.

The summary of duties and work of the audit committee is set out in FHREAGZHMER T BERNARERIEE
the “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report. BIRHRE | —H -

AUDITORS B Y i

Ernst & Young retire and a resolution for their reappointment as LK Er HH 3 AR R o A B R BP K 2R AT
auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual ZBAURSERE FIRBUGRSE » R KGR E
general meeting. W 2 AR 8 R Z A% BB e

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD RE#HFG

Dr. TAI Tak Fung, Stephen, GBS, JP WA W+ GBS KFE#h L

Chairman FE

Hong Kong, 27 June 2011 Hs > _F——HEAHZ1++LH
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Corporate Governance Report it ¥ &

The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company is pleased to
present this Corporate Governance Report in the Group’s annual report
for the year ended 31 March 2011.

The Company’s corporate governance policies and practices are
applied and implemented in the manners as stated in the below

Corporate Governance Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company and the management are committed to maintain a
good corporate governance with an emphasis on the principles of
transparency, accountability and independence to all shareholders. The
Company believes that good corporate governance is an essence for a
continual growth and enhancement of shareholders’ value. Throughout
the year under review, the Company has applied the principles of and
complied with most of the code provisions of the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of
the Listing Rules with the exception of code provisions A.4.1 and
A.4.2 of the CG Code which are explained below. The Company
periodically reviews its corporate governance practices with reference
to the latest development of corporate governance.

The key corporate governance principles and practices of the Company
are summarised as follows:

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Responsibilities

The role of the Board is to set up strategic goals, performance
objectives and operational policies; establish a framework of prudent
and effective controls which enables risk to be assessed and managed;
delegate authorities to the management to manage and supervise
the business of the Group; and ensure the management monitor
performance against objectives being set.

The Company has formalised a written guideline for the division
of responsibilities between the Board and the management. Certain
responsibilities or functions have been delegated by the Board to the
management which include the day-to-day business operation of the
Group, execution of corporate strategies, business and financial plans
and budgets approved by the Board and preparation of annual and
interim financial statements. The Board has reserved for its decisions
matters of the Group covering the approval of significant changes in
accounting or capital structure; approval of public announcements
and the financial statements; approval of major acquisitions, disposals
and major capital projects; approval of material borrowings and any
issuing or buying back of equity securities; approval of the annual

budget and setting of the dividend policy.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) WA (H)

Board Composition WY

The Board of the Company comprises nine directors consisting of six AKAFRIZzERGH LG ERAR > Hbh A8 BT
executive directors and three independent non-executive directors. WH S4B IERITESE -

The following chart shows the structure and membership of the Board HHOGREFRETZIEMEEBRATE

and Board’s Committees:

Board of Directors
WA
TAI Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman)
W (8
MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis (Managing Director)
SCKHRE (HHAALPE)
TAI Chun Leung
Wt R
YIP Wai Keung
k-
TSE Siu Wan
oz
LAI Yuk Chuen
REHR
CHAN Kay Cheung*
BAAE
LAN Yee Fong, Steve John* N
W 3% i po Coinpany Secretary Co
LUI Shing Ming, Brian* E E A ARFE E E
o : : LEUNG Tin Chi : :
LR N
E : Audit Committee : : : : Remuneration Committee : :
L RBREAR L L EY Y .
. 1 CHAN Kay Cheung* (Chairman) . i 1+ TAI Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman) | |
N CNEY ) . DR () .
1 1 LAN Yee Fong, Steve John* - i+ MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis -
| B Sk N
i+ LUI Shing Ming, Brian* . .+ CHAN Kay Cheung* Lo
L B s N
v v i 1+ LAN Yee Fong, Steve John* .
B B L L
. . i 1 LUI Shing Ming, Brian* -
3 | e 5
* Independent non-executive directors £ mu IS

—s——-55% 25
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Composition (continued)

The list of directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company from time to time pursuant to
the Listing Rules.

The relationship among some members of the Board are disclosed
under “Profiles of Directors and Senior Management” in this Annual

Report.

Board Meeting
Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

The Board meets regularly throughout the year to discuss and
formulate overall strategies for the Company, monitor financial
performance and discuss the interim and annual results, as well as

other significant matters.

The Board has convened four regular meetings during the year ended
31 March 2011 and the attendance record of each director is set out

below:

# P ()
O A LA ()

A B (IR ) IR A AR A ] 2 R TBLIL)
4 L A I DL T3 % BT A A SO A o

O B TR B AR O A R [ R A

W ABEERA b e

3-8 1
B ik kR R

A N A YT B o I ) T AR 4 ) R
SR ~ G I R B R ] R AR SR AR DL

HAERFH -

FRARRE_F =A==+ HILEEEH
R FEREZHERESRWT ¢

Number of Number of Average
Name of directors Board meetings attendance attendance rate
WHH T3y
WA R K % KB % %
Executive directors HAr#F
TAI Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman) — {8W (£ /) 4 4 100%
Takeshi NOMAGUCHI* Lug il 3 3 100%
MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis* K 4 4 100%
TAI Chun Leung HER 4 4 100%
YIP Wai Keung BE R 4 4 100%
TSE Siu Wan WAz 4 4 100%
LAI Yuk Chuen FE IR 4 4 100%
Independent non-executive Ve S iy
directors
CHAN Kay Cheung BRAL B 4 4 100%
LAN Yee Fong, Steve John WiRT 4 4 100%
LUI Shing Ming, Brian G 4 4 100%

* Mr. Takeshi Nomaguchi resigned as an executive director and the

managing director of the Company, and Mr. Man Wing Cheung, Ellis has

been re-designated as the managing director of the Company both with

effect from 24 February 2011.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Meeting (continued)
Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Notice of regular Board meetings is served to all directors at least 14
days before the meetings while reasonable notice is generally given for
other Board meetings. For committee meetings, notices are served in
accordance with the required notice period stated in the relevant terms
of reference.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all directors or committee members at least
3 days before each Board meeting and each committee meeting
to keep the directors or committee members apprised of the latest
developments and financial position of the Company and to enable
them to make informed decisions. All directors are encouraged to take
independent professional advice, at the Company’s expense, upon the
performance of their duties as and when deemed necessary. The Board
and each director have separate and independent access to the senior

management where necessary.

Minutes of all Board meetings and committee meetings are kept by the
Company Secretary. Draft minutes are normally circulated to directors
for comment within a reasonable time after each meeting and final

version is open for directors’ inspection.

If a substantial shareholder or a director has a conflict of interest in
a matter to be considered material by the Board, the matter will be
dealt with in accordance with applicable rules and regulations and, if
appropriate, an independent Board committee will be set up to deal

with the matter.

Directors’ Independence and Relationship

During the year ended 31 March 2011, the Board at all times met the
requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at
least three independent non-executive directors with at least one of
them possesses appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or financial management expertise as required under Rules 3.10(1)
and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. The Company has received a written
annual confirmation from each independent non-executive director of
his independence and the Company considers the existing independent
non-executive directors to be independent under the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules up to the date of
this Annual Report.

# P ()
206 4 ()

7 ik 1 R T

ERGWEGEGRTHERD TR L 28
Fo AL F G HBR N AEEN - ERE
B o SRR AR IR T ARE A i LA 2 A A R
BB

RAERTEARIAZTETTRRD =R > EF
B DA - SRR S W IR A
MEFRZEGNE  UEEFRZEGRANE
AR ) BT 8 T T S R LAt REAY > 3 B A4
RGP AE o 26 S50 A B R R AT R I I > A
LI S A T BN ORI L R A > B
HIA 2 T 7R o o T 4% B S A0 A T I ) )
T g Sr. SR vy A4S BN B B A

KR A VES R AL Ea - W SN
EHAE o A SRR — B R AR A B
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QA BB E R AR -

MAEEERKAREFEERTHTERZFHTD
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28 2 18 30 Pk B B AR

WRE R -—E=ZA=Z—HILEE  FHREFGH
TR B BT RN A RS BEZL 0
FHfTER AP RS TAH L HAEHECETH
RIY A3 10D K310 T R R Al 2 HEHE
W BTE €1 5l S B B A B P A B o AR
] T A S R AT B T A S 2 ek B A
ZEEHER o KA MG EBER LIERITEFE
AR H a3 2 (R BRI ) S8 3. 130 R B Z 5 5]
g Z B N+ o

—e——-55% 27



28

HONG KONG FOOD INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED

e

Corporate Governance Report £ ¥ Ea #H &

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ Independence and Relationship (continued)

Biographical details and relevant relationships among the directors are
set out in the “Profiles of Directors and Senior Management” section
in the Report of the Directors of this Annual Report.

Directors’ Appointment and Re-election
Appointment

Although the Company has not set up a nomination committee, the
Board is responsible for reviewing the Board composition, developing
and formulating the relevant procedures for nomination and
appointment of directors, monitoring the appointment and succession
planning of directors and assessing the independence of independent
non-executive directors.

The Board reviews its own structure, size and composition regularly
to ensure that it has a balance of expertise, skills and experience
appropriate to the requirements of the business of the Company.

Where vacancies on the Board exist, the Board will carry out the
selection process by making reference to the skills, experience,
professional knowledge and personal integrity of the proposed
candidates, the Company’s needs and other relevant statutory

requirements.

Each newly appointed director receives a comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment
to ensure proper understanding of the operations and business
of the Company and full awareness of director’s responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory

requirements.

There are also arrangements in place for providing continuing briefing
and professional development to directors whenever necessary.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ Appointment and Re-election (continued)
Re-election

In accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company (the
“Articles of Association”), one-third of the directors for the time being
or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number
nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office by
rotation for re-election by shareholders at the annual general meeting,
such that every director is subject to retirement by rotation at least

once every three years.

Under the code provision A.4.1, non-executive directors should be
appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election. Currently, all
independent non-executive directors of the Company are not appointed
for a specific term but are subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at the annual general meeting of the Company in accordance
with the Articles of Association. As such, the Board considers that
sufficient measures have been taken to ensure that the Company’s
corporate governance practices are no less exacting than those in the
CG Code.

Under the code provision A.4.2, all directors appointed to fill a casual
vacancy should be subject to election by shareholders at the first
general meeting after their appointment. Every director, including
those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years. In accordance with the
Articles of Association, any director appointed to fill a casual vacancy
shall hold office only until the next following annual general meeting
and shall then be eligible for re-election. The Board considers that
such a deviation is not material as casual vacancy seldom appears and
interval between the appointment made to fill casual vacancy and the

immediate following annual general meeting is short.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Roles of Chairman and Managing Director

Currently, Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and Mr. Man Wing Cheung,
Ellis hold the positions of Chairman and Managing Director
respectively. Their respective responsibilities are clearly defined and

set out in writing.

The Chairman provides leadership for the Board and is responsible
for the effective functioning of the Board in accordance with
good corporate governance practice. With the support of the
executive directors and senior management, the Managing Director
is responsible for managing the Group’s business, including
implementation of objectives, policies and major strategies and
initiatives adopted by the Board. He is also in charge of the
Company’s day-to-day operation in accordance with the instructions

from the Board.

Board Committees

The Board has established two committees, namely the Audit
Committee and the Remuneration Committee, for overseeing particular
aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the
Company are established with specific written terms of reference.
The terms of reference of the Board committees are available to

shareholders upon request.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established in October 1999 with specific
written terms of reference which set out its role and function and all
of its members are independent non-executive directors, one of them
possesses the appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise. As at the date of this Annual
Report, the Audit Committee comprises three independent non-
executive directors, namely Mr. Chan Kay Cheung (Chairman of the
Audit Committee), Mr. Lan Yee Fong, Steve John and Mr. Lui Shing
Ming, Brian.

The Audit Committee will conduct, on behalf of the Board, an annual
review of the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of
staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function and

training programmes and budget.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

The duties and responsibilities of the Audit Committee include, inter

alia, the following:

Relationship with the Company’s auditors

(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

to be primarily responsible for making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the
external auditors, and to approve the remuneration and terms
of engagement of the external auditors, and any questions of
resignation or dismissal of that auditors;

to review and monitor the external auditors’ independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards;

to develop and implement policy on the engagement of external

auditors to supply non-audit services;

to report to the Board, identifying any matters in respect of which
it considers that action or improvement is needed and making

recommendations as to the steps to be taken;

Review of financial information of the Company

(e)

to monitor the integrity of financial statements, review the annual

and interim reports, and review significant financial reporting

judgments contained in them before submission to the Board;

Oversight of the Company’s financial reporting system and internal

control procedures

()

(2)

to review the Company’s financial controls, internal control and

risk management systems;

to discuss with the management the system of internal control
and ensure that management has discharged its duty to have
an effective internal control system including the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the
Company’s accounting and financial reporting function, and their

training programmes and budget;
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) WA (H)
Audit Committee (continued) FEHZEH G (H)
Oversight of the Company’s financial reporting system and internal K4\ 5 B R AR A AR R Y B R ()

control procedures (continued)

(h) to consider any findings of major investigations of internal (h)y FHREFFGRERBTRANPERFERE

control matters as delegated by the Board or on its own initiative FERREERZALMES > DAEIAB ZH
and management’s response; % 3

(i) to review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and () M AREM B KRG BOREER

practices;

(j) to review the external auditors’ management letter, any material G) 7 A A R 2 R~ A A S R
queries raised by the external auditors to management in respect AHACER - MPBECE B R A B H AR
of the accounting records, financial statements or systems of ZAEMEAREH D LEAN B 2 [ HE ;

control and management’s response;

(k) to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response to the (k) R 3 < o Rt A I A MR R < A ek T R Hh
issues raised in the external auditors’ management letter; M) JE 4 Bt % W [l JE

(1) to report to the Board on all matters set out in the code provisions O LW S4B A B EE G2
in relation to the Audit Committee contained in Appendix 14 of Al 2 — )R mE E g Hwy s &
the Listing Rules; and

(m) to consider any other topics, as defined by the Board. (m) FEEHGHRE M FEIE -

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year ended 31 BUBREORBRE_F—-—H=ZHA=Z+—HILEE
March 2011 to review the accounting principles and practices adopted SRAT TR Rk o o B A 4R T T R AN 2w R R OB
by the Group and discuss internal controls and financial reporting B R am N iR e B R R
matters including a review of the interim financial statements for AAFRBEE FZ—FENLA=ZTHIEAMA Z
the six months ended 30 September 2010 and the annual financial MBBERELENEE _Z2-FE=ZH=Z+—HIL&#E
statements for the year ended 31 March 2010 of the Company. The BEZMBERE FHRZEGICFEMNAREEERE
Audit Committee has also reviewed the annual results for the year F——FZH=Z1+—HILFEEZEEEL -

ended 31 March 2011 of the Group.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) WA (H)

Audit Committee (continued) FEHZEHE (1)
The attendance records of the Audit Committee during the year are set REEEGEEGREZ HERCSHNT ¢
out below:
Number of Audit Number of Average
Name of the committee members Committee meetings attendance attendance rate
HEBREHA T3y
ZEFRBAR kY O K B R #
CHAN Kay Cheung BRAL B 2 2 100%
(Chairman of the Audit (FEEAGTH)
Committee)
LAN Yee Fong, Steve John [y 2 2 100%
LUI Shing Ming, Brian Gt 2 2 100%
Remuneration Committee FHZER &

The Remuneration Committee was established in September 2005 W2 o BB IAEIU AL o 3 B T
with specific written terms of reference which set out its role and RE AR 5 W) £ 60 S B » Pl 44 AT EE S A
function and is constituted by two executive directors, namely Dr. Tai Wit (B2 R & M) B OK R e A B = 4 W ar
Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee) and PATH B BRMLE Jed ~ BT o R I W e A AL
Mr. Man Wing Cheung, Ellis and three independent non-executive B

directors, namely Mr. Chan Kay Cheung, Mr. Lan Yee Fong, Steve

John and Mr. Lui Shing Ming, Brian.

The duties and responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee PMZEEZBEREENT » K af:

include, inter alia, the following:

(a) to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s (a) BARARAEERERTHANRZBEZB
policy and structure for all remuneration of directors and senior RBLHEME > DL SRR % S5 T 4 % e B SR 8 5L OE
management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent A B ZFR )P IR - ) 7 50 R

procedure for developing policy on such remuneration;

(b) to have the delegated responsibility to determine the specific (b) BWEMFEMEEZBATEFLRAERAR
remuneration package of all executive directors and senior Z R EFMALG - IR AT E 5
management, and make recommendations to the Board on the FE R

remuneration of non-executive directors;

(c) to review and approve performance-based remuneration by (c) BZHFEANRIZAERERAE - FH
reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the Board Bttt 4% R Bl 2 2 4 5

from time to time;
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) WA (H)
Remuneration Committee (continued) FWZE A (%)

(d) to review and approve the compensation payable to executive (d) 7 [ Atk e TR e Mk ¢ 40 1k AT 1T B A 77 AT
directors and senior management in connection with any loss or BEEREHANEB Z M

termination of their office or appointment;

(e) to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to (e) 7% B KAt vie DN R Bk AR B AT 5 A 8 B 3 i A

dismissal or removal of directors for misconduct; HZ it 28k s

(f) to ensure that no director or any of his/her associates is involved (f)  HEAR G JE o = ol A o T %\ 22 BELAS By 57 T 1)

in deciding his/her own remuneration; and WiE s &

(g) to advise shareholders on how to vote with respect to any service (2)  FRARE b A R ) 20288 st St e 2 AT ) 32 2 IR
contracts of directors that require shareholders’ approval under BAHNZHRERR » mRERBEEER -
the Listing Rules.

The Remuneration Committee had convened one meeting during TN B e AE IB] AR N BRI — IR e B (H
the year to review, inter alia, the Group’s remuneration policy and WAL ) AR W R AR U R R
structure, and the remuneration of all directors for the year under REEAEERZ 4 c KAFREAFEREZ MR R
review. Details of the emoluments of each director of the Company are T 5 4 PR S o

set out in note 8§ to the financial statements.

The attendance records of the Remuneration Committee during the AREEHFMWEETRBZ BTSN T
year are set out below:

Number of Remuneration Number of Average
Name of the committee members Committee meetings attendance attendance rate

FMERE 5
ZHERA L R K Y i) 27 - Y S

Executive directors HAr i F
TAI Tak Fung, Stephen s 1 1 100%
(Chairman of the Remuneration €L EF-R-EF T
Committee)
MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis AR 1 1 100%
Independent non-executive Bk AT
directors
CHAN Kay Cheung BRAH 5 1 1 100%
LAN Yee Fong, Steve John WR 7 1 1 100%
LUI Shing Ming, Brian & 1 1 100%
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES B2 GBSy HI
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix AN F) R A BT BRI BiF 8% 1057 3 2 A S HI >
10 to the Listing Rules as the Company’s code of conduct regarding VERBARKARERBEITBLER S ZAN A #HH)
securities transactions by directors of the Company (the “Code of (THEspsr R - B AATF LB EEERSEES
Conduct”). Having made specific enquiry of all directors of the WA EHEMER - RERBRE_FE——HE=H
Company, the directors have confirmed that they have complied with =+ —HIFEE RN —EHESESE SR TR E 2 AT o

the required standard as set out in the Code of Conduct throughout the
year ended 31 March 2011.

The Company has also established the Code for Securities Transaction AN ) AR 3R ] e HEA A A B A A T R R A RCE
by the Relevant Employees (the “Employees Code™) on no less B2 8 B #EAT A BN 55538 5 Wy B e sy HI) 2 A& kT
exacting terms than the Model Code for securities transactions by the EFAEBEBESBEER ST (RASA]) o #AR
employees who are likely to be in possession of unpublished price- AR s RERE - =H=+—HILFEE
sensitive information of the Company. No incident of non-compliance W IE AR BORA SR BRI Z T -

of the Employees Code by the employees was noted by the Company
throughout the year ended 31 March 2011.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT B 5 % B A%

Financial Reporting B 5 )

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the ERYBRNEAEELRURAFRE - — 4=
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March H=E=+—HILEEZBMBEHREZET - FUNEE
2011. In preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31 ZE-—FEAZ+T—HILFEZIMERER . O
March 2011, appropriate accounting principles and policies are R4 N OVE o EE R B R BOK s R AR 2 Al s
selected and applied consistently; judgments and estimates made are VR 5 e S AP s %S I B O A
appropriate and reasonable; and these financial statements have been R B gm0

prepared on a going concern basis.

The senior management of the Company provides the Board with ARKAT ZHHEH A B 853 e 124 i 3 R & i
such information and explanations as are necessary to enable the B ARSI ERE G AR AN H
Board to carry out an informed assessment of the Company’s financial B 5 B KR AR S BEA o

information and position, which are put to the Board for approval.

The Board is also responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and EHE R - W A TR AR R B2
understandable assessment of both annual and interim reports, price- B > T AR B o A b R e UK
sensitive announcements and other disclosures required under the BRI ZAE RBECET R R E & H A RS HE

Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements. AT HBREZ MG R -
The responsibilities of the Company’s external auditors, Messrs. Ernst AT AN PEAZ IO K Rt ([RK]) 2 &
& Young (“E&Y™), are set out in the Independent Auditors’ Report on 1T > B AR IR BB 38 F 39 H 2 M o A% B A o

pages 38 to 39 of this Annual Report.

There are no material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that A FIHESEA B S5k g Ul 2 R A B I R &K ATk
may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a R R Z B SRR T R BRI o
going concern.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

External Auditors’ Remuneration

E&Y have been re-appointed as the Company’s external auditors by
shareholders at the 2010 annual general meeting until the conclusion
of the next annual general meeting. They are primarily responsible for
providing audit services in connection with the annual consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2011.

For the year ended 31 March 2011, E&Y received approximately
HK$680,000 (2010: HK$645,000) for audit and related services and
HK$99,000 (2010: 94,000) for other non-audit services which include

taxation services.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board is responsible for the system of internal controls and
reviewing its effectiveness. The system has been designed to manage
the risk of failure to achieve corporate objectives rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve the business objective. Therefore, it
can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against
material misstatement, loss or fraud. The Board has delegated to
the management the implementing of the strategies and policies on
internal controls and risk management adopted by the Board and the
review of relevant financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management procedures.

During the year under review, the Board has reviewed the
effectiveness of the internal controls of the Group including the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the
Group’s accounting and financial reporting function and their training

programmes and budget.

COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of good communication with
shareholders. Information in relation to the Group is disseminated to
shareholders in a timely manner through a number of formal channels,
which include interim and annual reports, announcements and

circulars.

The Company maintains a website at www.hongkongfoodinvestment.
com.hk as a communication platform with shareholders and investors,
where information and updates on the Company’s announcements,
business developments/operations and other information are available

for public access.
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COMMUNICATION WITH BB R 2 WA (5)
SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

The Company’s annual general meeting provides a forum for KAF Z B RRERE » IR EFFERREEZ
the communication between the Board and the shareholders. The EE ERGAEFTETITRBEGZLEEM2H
Chairman of the Board and Board committees actively participate WBERAE KRG > WA R o IR ESE R EE
in the annual general meeting and answer questions from the EREHEEDS S H R B o R K
shareholders. Notice of the annual general meeting is sent to the o (BERRBAERE) A RS ESEECE
shareholders at least 20 clear business days before the meeting. All HALAY Z 38 DL S 22 7 AT » 0 4 2 45 Bl

resolutions put forward at shareholder meetings including the annual T B e B 45 TR A% ) B A B A2 B Je A A =) 2 Bk o
general meeting will be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing

Rules and the poll results will be posted on the websites of the Stock

Exchange and of the Company after each shareholder meeting.
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] Ernst & Young Rk ERE
=” ERNST & )/()UNG 18th Floor EiE B SRS
Two International Finance Centre EpE &Rt 0281842
8 Finance Street, Central ——
=7 ik B e

Tel: +852 2846 9888
Fax: +852 2868 4432

www.ey.com
To the shareholders of BHRETMBEREBRARAN

Hong Kong Food Investment Holdings Limited O % 09 3 £ 0 B 2 B AT LA o)) A it B R
(Formerly known as Four Seas Food Investment Holdings Limited)

(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability) (BBt M - 2 R 2 A)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hong FMOFZHN F40E Z120EH WFBEMHBEHER

Kong Food Investment Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its BHRAR ([EAH ) RILME AR (KR E4EEH])
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on pages 40 to 120, ERa MRS > FEFMEREAE_T——4F
which comprise the consolidated and company statements of financial =H =+ — H W& B BRI & A B R AR
position as at 31 March 2011, and the consolidated income statement, FHEEZH ILEERLEZEARIEE - HF62H KRS
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated EBEARHSENENGEAHEsRERE U ATHE
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash B B W SR A At A R R o

flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR WP A A W AR YE W AT
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of BAE HEE A A E AR e S A € A B A
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in F0 5 i A 1 ) B A o O WG ) 4 L A B S R A
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued JE WA B > DL K R R B

by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the IR 4 A ) > DA A B 5 R o S AR A R R KGR
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control BB R T 5 B T OK B SR BR A o

as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY % B Bl Y 35 4T

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated BN EERMRBRMOFEE Z S 456 M HE RS
financial statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely to PEH TR o A" 98 TI RIS s w5 S 14 115
you, as a body, in accordance with Section 141 of the Hong Kong R 2R R > mMARELME R - FHMEAS
Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume AR & 0 A B AT AN B SR EELE
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the

contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards oA ORI AV € Rl A € AR O T v A MR Y

on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public B AT T A% o i v v J) T R R AT 45 < Tk 22 3B 1 A
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical i R R AT A% - 18 AT S B T b A
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable B BE S ik S AT A T K B R Bt -

assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.

38  ANNUAL REPORT 2011



BEERRREERERAR

Independent Auditors’ Report B Z & #® &

Elf ERNST & YOUNG
=z K

To the shareholders of

Hong Kong Food Investment Holdings Limited

(Formerly known as Four Seas Food Investment Holdings Limited)
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY (continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the

overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as
at 31 March 2011, and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
27 June 2011
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Year ended 31 March 2011 B2 =Z——F=A=+—HLFE

2011 2010
AR R FE
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
7t BT o T o
REVENUE WA 5 439,544 559,501
Cost of sales B B R AR (438,840) (526,092)
Gross profit EH 704 33,409
Other income and gains N ST & 5 802 20,960
Selling and distribution expenses S8 Ko B (3,006) (3,227)
Administrative expenses AT BUBA 32 (28,508) (29,511)
Finance costs il B AR 6 (1,054) (704)
Share of profits and losses of associates WA Bk & 2 5] i A1 & &5 18 21,330 24,989
Fair value gains on financial assets N FAEZE IR 25 AR
at fair value through profit or loss SEhEE AP EK R 2,556 631
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX B BE i A, Ol 1) 7 (7,176) 46,547
Income tax credit/(expense) P Bk, (B %) 10 1,261 (2,272)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR VN Y N
ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY WA HZ
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY wA (EH) 11 (5,915) 44,275
HK cents HK cents
A A
EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE AN BB E H
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY WA A5 e B A, Ol )
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE — BE AR B i
COMPANY
— Basic and diluted 13 (2.28) 17.06

Details of the dividends payable and proposed for the year are B A AR B2 JRE A B B e A G B B NG R B R
disclosed in note 12 to the financial statements. H kL2 o
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Year ended 31 March 2011 BZE=Z——F=A=+—HLEFE

2011 2010
R4 R g
HK$’000 HK$’000
T T T
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR AAERERA O H) (5,915) 44,275
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE AR A B M Ath 4 Wi
INCOME/(LOSS) FOR B2k Oid)
THE YEAR
Share of other comprehensive JRE A B 25 23 R) 1 At
income/(loss) of associates, 2T eEs (B R)
net of tax (BrBitR) 7,853 (1,340)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE A B LA 2 i 2% O 4R)
INCOME/(LOSS) (B BE1%)
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX 7,853 (1,340)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE AN AF B 48 2 i 3%
INCOME FOR THE YEAR B 0B A AR 2 ) B 2%
ATTRIBUTABLE TO Pifi &
EQUITY HOLDERS OF
THE COMPANY 1,938 42,935
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position && B #& kR &

31 March 2011 =Z——$=8=+—H

31 March 31 March 1 April
2011 2010 2009
e e
ZA=Z+—H =ZA=Z+—H /MH—H
Notes HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
Kt it W T T 3 BT
(Restated) (Restated)
(E ) (#%1)
NON-CURRENT ASSETS F R B %
Property, plant and equipment W~ WE B 14 79,473 82,405 85,815
Investments in associates & w2 & 16 331,869 310,751 290,562
Deferred tax assets HE JE A I 26 2,961 2,961 4,993
Other non-current asset F At I U B B 17 540 540 540
Total non-current assets BB A A 414,843 396,657 381,910
CURRENT ASSETS i B ¥
Due from associates JRE W W 28 28 ) 16 91 100 97
Inventories T8 18 126,342 78,955 65,452
Trade receivables JRE W B 5 R Ak 19 40,725 44,209 58,056
Tax recoverable A g 5] A JE 1,774 - -
Prepayments, deposits and AT RE ~ 7T &R
other receivables At 18 Wik I 20 900 2,144 957
Financial assets at fair value WA EZERER
through profit or loss R B 4 & 21 19,652 15,677 15,983
Cash and cash equivalents BeRHE&FMEER 22 64,355 68,085 60,889
Total current assets i AR 253,839 209,170 201,434
CURRENT LIABILITIES i B 14
Trade and bills payables JE A B 5 MRk B % 23 38,617 47,531 27,644
Other payables and accruals Al B A ok T R HE wH AL 24 7,901 17,665 12,318
Derivative financial instrument A 4 b T H - - 35
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 78 # A F B Z SR 47 Bk 25 148,221 56,981 92,488
Tax payable JRE A} Bt I = 1,538 1,538
Total current liabilities i B £ AR 194,739 123,715 134,023
NET CURRENT ASSETS it ) % i i 59,100 85,455 67,411
TOTAL ASSETS LESS AR DR ) £ 4
CURRENT LIABILITIES 473,943 482,112 449,321
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31 March 2011 ZE——F=8=+—H

31 March 31 March 1 April
2011 2010 2009
R4 ZF-FHF RFNE
ZH=ZF+—H =ZA=+—H MA—H

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HKS$°000
M 7t W T T o
(Restated) (Restated)
(FEH) (')
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ki ) £3 4%
Deferred tax liabilities 7% 8 8 JE A4 A 26 1,158 881 641
Net assets & E 472,785 481,231 448,680
EQUITY HE 23
Issued capital CEAT A 27 25,959 25,959 25,959
Reserves Tt 45 29(a) 439,038 447,484 414,933
Proposed final dividend S R 0 e 12 7,788 7,788 7,788
Total equity RE 25 48 4E 472,785 481,231 448,680
TAI Tak Fung, Stephen & W MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis 3¢ &
Director % Director #FH
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity &REREEBE &

Year ended 31 March 2011 B2 =Z——F=A=+—HLFE

Share of
Share Capital other Proposed
Issued premium  redemption  reserves of Retained final Total
capital account reserve associates profits dividend equity
Kt
C#f Ref B BEL AN

R WOOR  BWEG JeRE RERA RE  EEAH
Notes — HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS$'000  HKS'000

Wi #¥TFT #ETT #NTT #WTx #FTr #NTr #ETE

(Note 29(a))
(Wit29(a)
At I April 2009 REZZZLENA—H 25,959 90,557 579 19,090 304,707 7,788 448,680
Profit for the year KA BRI = - - = 4275 = 4275
Other comprehensive income AR M2 E A -
for the year:
Share of other comprehensive TR A A
loss of associates, net of tax 2T ER (RHiK) - - - (1,340) - - (1,340)
Total comprehensive income R AR A
for the year - - - (1,340) 44,275 - 42,935
Final 2009 dividend declared ER-FFNERDRE - - - - - (7,788) (7,788)
Interim 2010 dividend e o 2 Y} 12 - - - - (2,596) = (2,596)
Proposed final 2010 dividend “R-REREADRE 12 - - - - (1,788) 7,788 =
Transfer to share of other reserves WREEEBEATZ
of associates HAbR - - - (141) 141 = =
At31 March 2010 and 1 April 2010 REF—FEZA=+—H
REZ-RENA—H 25,959 90,557 579+ 176094 338,739% 7,788 481,031
Loss for the year KEEER = = = = (5,915) = (5.915)
Other comprehensive income N ER T T
for the year:
Share of other comprehensive e 06 A 0 A
income of associates, net of tax 2T (BB - - - 7,853 - - 73853
Total comprehensive income N § T
for the year - - - 7,853 (5,915) - 1,938
Final 2010 dividend declared HRZZ-FEAMBE - - - - - (7,788) (7,788)
Interim 2011 dividend “Ro—Ep R 12 = = = = (2,596) = (2,596)
Proposed final 2011 dividend ZEERRANRA 12 = = = = (1,788) 7,788 -
Transfer to share of other reserves HREZEEGBEANZ
of associates St - - - 379 (379) - -
At 31 March 2011 REB-—H=ZA=1—H 25,959 90,557 579* 25.841%  322,061* 7,788 472,785
*  These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of o ZEMERAF AGZAMBE RN LR Z LA
HK$439,038,000 (2010: HK$447,484,000) in the consolidated statement 439,038,000% 70 (% — R4 ¢ 447,484,000 0C) ©

of financial position.

3 Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations for Foreign Investment & R b A ARG A [ A 7 4 A 3B BRI A

Enterprises in the People’s Republic of China, as at 31 March 2011, Al > R F——E=H=1+—H > B S F Al
the share of other reserves of associates of HK$1,607,000 (2010: T #5H11,607,0008 70 (=R —F4E : 1,228,000¥70) »
HK$1,228,000) is non-distributable in nature and can be utilised to offset B S WY 4R o RS AR A A Z A o

the losses incurred.
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BEERRREERERAR

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows ZRERERER

Year ended 31 March 2011 8E=—Z——F=A=+—HILLFE

2011 2010
—E -4 R R
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Mtk BT W T
(Restated)
(HE5)
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING BEXHHNHZBAERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit/(loss) before tax G IR  FiEY) (7,176) 46,547
Adjustments for: EU k51 4 TE A )
Finance costs il A 6 1,054 704
Share of profits and losses of associates B A B 7 2 ] i A B e 1R (21,330) (24,989)
Bank interest income ATH B WA 5 (57) (54)
Dividend income from financial assets A PAEZ M 25 AR
at fair value through profit or loss 11 4 Al 2 B A 5 77 (101)
Gain on disposal of items of property, B W% B K
plant and equipment A E E 2 5 (48) -
Gain on disposal of financial assets &R THE R H R
at fair value through profit or loss I\ R ¥ 45 7l 2 WA 5 (61) (16,650)
Gain on acquisition of additional Jilg \ T2 2 ) AR 2R
interests in an associate Z Wz 5 = (800)
Gain on deemed acquisition of P A A IR AT 8 24 ] L A
additional interests in an associate B 25 2 WA 5 1) (1,111)
Depreciation g 14 3,403 3,671
Fair value gains on financial assets AT B 25 AR
at fair value through profit or loss S RE EZ AR 7 (2,556) (631)
Impairment of trade receivables JRE W 5 5 B 3k S A 7 231 1,271
Write-down of inventories to net AT & % 5 B
realisable value 7 865 609
(25,753) 8,466
Decrease/(increase) in amounts JRE W W 8 A ] 2 A
due from associates (3 m) 9 3)
Increase in inventories FEZ W (48,252) (14,112)
Decrease in trade receivables W 5 IRk 2 WA 3,253 12,576
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, TEAT I ~ 7T A KA
deposits and other receivables WE WK I Z W (3 1,244 (1,187)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and A B GRS RE B
bills payables B,/ (W) (8,914) 19,887
Increase/(decrease) in other payables s A 5 L R it £
and accruals z ¥, (W) 9,764) 5,347
Decrease in a derivative financial Tl T = R )
instrument - (35)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations BEEBHBRA (fil) 284 (88,177) 30,939
Hong Kong profits tax paid A 7 W R A5 B (1,774) -
Net cash flows from/(used in) MELEBEHBAZBEERA GiH)
operating activities — page 46 R —46H (89,951) 30,939
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HONG KONG FOOD INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows %€ H & % 8 &

Year ended 31 March 2011 §E=—Z——F=A=+—HILFE

2011 2010
R4 "R R
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Mtk BT B W
(Restated)
(#31)
Net cash flows from/(used in) MBEFEMBZHERA GRB)
operating activities — page 45 W —45H (89,951) 30,939
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING BERHZHEWE
ACTIVITIES
Bank interest received R AT A B 57 54
Dividends received from financial WO AR 2 7 {H 7 4B 18 25 AR
assets at fair value through Y 4l 2 RS
profit or loss 77 101
Dividends received from an associate W B 2 2 ] It R 8,066 8,017
Purchases of items of property, plant WA~ B R SEEE
and equipment (613) (261)
Purchases of additional interests [F YNNI E
in associates - (2,646)
Purchases of financial assets W\ F% 2 P 7 i 18 25 AR
at fair value through profit or loss Y 4 il (1,665) (21,244)
Proceeds from disposal of an item of WEWE -~ W RS IE H
property, plant and equipment ZWA 190 -
Proceeds from disposal of financial AT E B A8 AR
assets at fair value through F1Y 4 il P AR A
profit or loss 307 38,831
Net cash flows from investing activities WHEEHLZHEWATH 6,419 22,852
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING RS By 2 B AU
ACTIVITIES
Increase/(decrease) in bank and trust SRAT Bk T AR R Bk
receipt loans, net z¥m,/ (A) » FH 91,240 (35,507)
Interest paid SRS (1,054) (704)
Dividends paid oA BB (10,384) (10,384)
Net cash flows from/(used in) MEGHZBHERA
financing activities (Fth) B8 79,802 (46,595)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN BReRBEFHEH
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS WM (RA) (3,730) 7,196
Cash and cash equivalents at EMZB & RB&EHIEE
beginning of year 68,085 60,889
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ERZBERBEFHEHA
AT END OF YEAR 64,355 68,085
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH Bl & KB &% fEH &4
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS Z B
Cash and bank balances Bl R RATH A 22 32,833 36,619
Time deposits with original maturity of BEAEHAR=MA
less than three months when acquired 2 W7k 22 31,522 31,466
64,355 68,085
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BEERRREERERAR

Statement of Financial Position Bt #ARk R &

31 March 2011 =Z2——$=8=+—H

2011 2010
TR AR R FE
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
Hf i T T o
NON-CURRENT ASSETS R W) ¥
Investments in subsidiaries Mg A w2 & 15 204,544 202,131
CURRENT ASSETS i B A
Due from subsidiaries JRE W B i 2 ) 15 406 376
Prepayments, deposits and AR - WK
other receivables At JE W K I 20 126 130
Cash and bank balances Bl 4 R BRAT S5 17 22 146 165
Total current assets B R 678 671
CURRENT LIABILITIES i B 8 4%
Due to subsidiaries JE A B g 2 ) 15 24,200 11,399
Accruals FE R AR 24 509 512
Total current liabilities it B A A AR 24,709 11,911
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES Ui B £ 45 ¥ (24,031) (11,240)
Net assets BT 180,513 190,891
EQUITY HE 23
Issued capital [GRZFPZN 27 25,959 25,959
Reserves fit 45 29(b) 146,766 157,144
Proposed final dividend et R B S 12 7,788 7,788
Total equity HE 25 A8 {8 180,513 190,891
TAI Tak Fung, Stephen # 4% MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis 3 K #
Director %5 Director %5
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Notes to Financial Statements Bf #& $§ 4 Kf =

31 March 2011 —2——f§=A=+—8

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Hong Kong Food Investment Holdings Limited (formerly known
as Four Seas Food Investment Holdings Limited) is a limited
liability company incorporated in Hong Kong. The registered
office of the Company is located at Four Seas eFood Centre, No.
2 Hong Ting Road, Sai Kung, Hong Kong.

Pursuant to the special resolution passed at the annual general
meeting held on 2 September 2010 and approved by the Registrar
of Companies in Hong Kong on 24 September 2010, the name
of the Company was changed from “Four Seas Food Investment
Holdings Limited MY & SR EHEBAMRA R to “Hong Kong
Food Investment Holdings Limited 75 #5 £ /i #& ¥ A R A ]
with effect from 24 September 2010.

During the year, the Group’s principal activities consisted of the
trading of frozen meat, seafood and vegetables. The principal
activities of associates are the manufacturing and trading of
snack foods, confectionery, beverages, frozen food products,
noodles, poultry products, ham and ham-related products, and the
operations of restaurants.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for certain derivative financial instruments
and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, which
have been measured at fair value. These financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation
Basis of consolidation from 1 April 2010

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2011.
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date
that such control ceases. All intra-group balances, transactions,
unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group
transactions and dividends are eliminated on consolidation in full.
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2.1
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A v B i B P R A W)l Y o
HHREBRARAT) & — KRB EMR L2 H
RO ] o AR 2 ) 2 5k A S0 2 2 A v G B R
258 DY Y £ i A B O o

MR T —FFELA ZH BT ZRFAS
R BB ZRRHREREER F-RER
H =10 H A A Rk R AR
A FElZ %M B H [ Four Seas Food Investment
Holdings Limited P4 Y £ /i # % 2 B A BR A A
B %% [Hong Kong Food Investment Holdings
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BEERRREERERAR

Notes to Financial Statements Bt # 3& & Hf &

31 March 2011 =Z2——$=8=+—H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 2.1 Lo (45)

Basis of consolidation (continued) SR HARHE (4)

Basis of consolidation from 1 April 2010 (continued) H ZF—FFEWH — HEBZ 4G H 2 ()

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss — ¥ B JB ) =2 i A R A A A B AEL PR 2R

of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction. R HIRE > Rz R 2 AJR -

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) ik A 45 (8] J 2= 38— [ B g 8 W) 2 e A > B

the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, R mROZME AR 2 EE (BHEHE) XA

(ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and i~ (i) o7 e $ e RE 25 2 VR T L % (i) 7 E 23

(iii) the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; Nrtdkz B4 s IMEROBIREZ

and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, A FAE ~ G)FT R B AR B E 2 A T E K i) 18

(ii) the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any i M HP AT R O A 2 BRI AR - e Rt

resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share i 2 TG WAL 4 % P T R =2 A A [ A T A 7T

of components previously recognised in other comprehensive B ABAS AR E R (BT E BEE) -
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as

appropriate.

Basis of consolidation prior to I April 2010 PR RIEP]H — H i Z 475 50 H A

Certain of the above-mentioned requirements have been applied T B TR AR 2R TS o AR - DA

on a prospective basis. The following differences, however, are TEBRENETBR T AREMZ AR %

carried forward in certain instances from the previous basis of e L

consolidation:

e Acquisitions of non-controlling interests (formerly known o AR —FENH—HRG o B W R
as minority interests), prior to 1 April 2010, were accounted WERS (ARG A BB R RERS ) $7% T B =) 1
for using the parent entity extension method, whereby the HE Ay A\ R B B > o S v B AR B R
differences between the consideration and the book value THI A 2 P A 25 RE e 3R T 2 o
of the share of the net assets acquired were recognised in
goodwill.

e Losses incurred by the Group were attributed to the non- o ARAR P A 2 N 1R T e IR A 0 B
controlling interest until the balance was reduced to nil. ZAERBHIRER o T — 25 s
Any further excess losses were attributable to the parent, SRR A E] o M B RS A A
unless the non-controlling interest had a binding obligation KR Z R EAE > BIBRAD o A T —F4E
to cover these. Losses prior to 1 April 2010 were not P H — H B Z s 15 0 e 7 I e B A 25 BB
reallocated between non-controlling interest and the parent VNG A W)
shareholders.

e Upon loss of control, the Group accounted for the o AR EVETIRERE > A SR R O 2 b il R
investment retained at its proportionate share of net asset H 391 4% Lo i) A 2 8 3 I R A
value at the date control was lost. The carrying amount of RIEH - FRBER_F—FFEMWH—H
such investment at 1 April 2010 has not been restated. 2 R THI AN R AR A o
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HONG KONG FOOD INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED

50

Notes to Financial Statements & #% 3k & Mt 5

31 March 2011 =Z——$=8=+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY
AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs

2.2 €l WK B B8 2 4 )

A AR ) ELR AR AR JBE 2 T 5 A R A DL R OB

for the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

HKERS 1 (Revised)

HKERS 1 Amendments

HKFRS 2 Amendments

HKERS 3 (Revised)

HKAS 27 (Revised)
HKAS 32 Amendment

HKAS 39 Amendment

HK(IFRIC)Int 17

HKERS 5 Amendments
included in Improvements to
HKFRSs issued in October 2008

Improvements to HKFRSs 2009

HK Interpretation 4
Amendment

HK Interpretation 5

First-time Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards

Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption of Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards - Additional Exemptions for
First-time Adopters

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment - Group

Cash-settled Share-based Payment Transactions

Business Combinations

Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

Amendment to HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation -
Classification of Rights Issues

Amendment to HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition

and Measurement - Eligible Hedged Items

Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners

Amendments to HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for
Sale and Discontinued Operations - Plan to sell the

controlling interest in a subsidiary

Amendments to a number of HKFRSs issued in May 2009

Amendment to HK Interpretation 4 Leases - Determination of the
Length of Lease Term in respect of Hong Kong Land Leases

Presentation of Financial Statements - Classification by the
Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment

on Demand Clause

AT B ARG T A B 5 e ot U

BRI HARAB R HH A
(BT
FRRT AR 1 IR R R 615
(BiTk) HARABRHBHG
B-EAFRE A RS
AR B R A0 [T B e 8
(BiTk) WRBEN BRI
~RHUALHHZ IR
XN
AR B *Hitt
(&BT)
REAHRNEE (BB  FAKELHEAE

BEAHEN NS (i)

B HERE0% (BiTh)

LTk BRI
IR 20- Bl
kR BRI 7
LA : gkt i-nk

R
Bl (ARMURERRERG) AEFESRATLEE
- R A
FEMBREENESHZBT  BURERHRGEN AT
(BERZFRNELARMG  AFETHOESHE
LERHBRABNZAE)  BEERCRLATEE
il Wl ERRA AL
it di)
CERAEREMEREEN  BURCFRAELAMGZ
2 AT AWM
BlRRA (BTE) BimERRRA E
-BERRLHARZAN
B R HHEREZIH-HANH
GRATREEREERNZ
EHRHNH

Other than as further explained below regarding the impact of
HKFRS 3 (Revised), HKAS 27 (Revised), amendments to HKAS
7 and HKAS 17 included in Improvements to HKFRSs 2009 and
HK Interpretation 4 (Revised in December 2009), the adoption
of the new and revised HKFRSs has had no significant financial

effect on these financial statements.
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31 March 2011 —2——$=A=+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY 2.2 SRR R B i 2 W (4)
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

The principal effects of adopting these new and revised HKFRSs PRAN L SFE W] B RAE AT B B s R 2 &
are as follows: B ENR ¢
(a) HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations and HKAS 27 (a) v B A M R SE35R (RAEHT) # %4

(Revised) Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

HKFRS 3 (Revised) introduces a number of changes in the
accounting for business combinations that affect the initial
measurement of non-controlling interests, the accounting
for transaction costs, the initial recognition and subsequent
measurement of a contingent consideration and business
combinations achieved in stages. These changes will impact
the amount of goodwill recognised, the reported results in
the period that an acquisition occurs, and future reported

results.

HKAS 27 (Revised) requires that a change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary without loss of control is accounted
for as an equity transaction. Therefore, such a change
will have no impact on goodwill, nor will it give rise to
a gain or loss. Furthermore, the revised standard changes
the accounting for losses incurred by the subsidiary as
well as the loss of control of a subsidiary. Consequential
amendments were made to various standards, including, but
not limited to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, HKAS 12
Income Taxes, HKAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign
Exchange Rates, HKAS 28 Investments in Associates and
HKAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures.

The changes introduced by these revised standards
are applied prospectively and affect the accounting of
acquisitions, loss of control and transactions with non-
controlling interests after 1 April 2010. In particular, in
a business combination achieved in stages, HKFRS 3
(Revised) requires the acquirer to remeasure its previously
held equity interest in the acquiree at its acquisition-
date fair value and recognise the resulting gain or loss, if
any, in the income statement. Following the adoption of
HKFRS 3 (Revised), the Group’s associates had a business
combination achieved in stages during the year, which
resulted in an increase in share of profits or losses of
associates of HK$1,183,000 for the current year.

GF T s s wt R SR 27 5% (RIET) A7 &
Wi 31 Y T 7

A T i TSR3 RAERT) 3 3R
FOFRE RSB G AK T2 8 > 5% E)
5B D e PR 2 ) 2t B~ 32 B IRAR Y
kB B~ SRR % o W B AR SE
Af#ﬂ%)]iﬂ’ﬁ B L BEAR wE B o W% S
O RSB - BRI
%ﬁ%%ﬁ&ﬁﬁziﬁ’%%b

A o o wt R SR 7R (R AT B A
R ) B A B 2 W 2 A R R 5 )
PR I ERE 5 o PRI > % 55 5 A1 3B v 2 i
HESL B > A 8 A W AR SR IR o BRILDL
B > 5 AEAG RT3 JU) 528 ) 5 £ 4T YR 4
RS P 22 Nl 1R 0 B i > O R 2 o
I BT 5 o Bl AR EAE RT3 Je 2 U 4
5 AH S BR7 7  or t i B SR 7 98 B 2 i 4
7~ HWE R 12 AR - W
Rt RS2 1 BRAP I [ A B 2 B
W R SR 2R SR B A A 2 RE
FWE ARSI VIRR G E L FE L ko

R T HESIEIPNGE DRSSl
B > WRREN R -FENA —HE
Z WU ~ B 2 e o) A e BRI e B 2% 1 A2
S et R o R85 - 764 B B E
WA OERE > 7 b B B I SR 3 5% (¢
ET) B Wi I = 78 T s o L 2 R B
Wi i 5 % BT IR RE A M B 2 A P
W AE RS R N TR AR Z B () -
RRER A0 o v S o R A AR 3 5R (ARAERT)
% > A I W 0 R) G A AR AR B 43 T BB
BEREL OO 9] BOE A B REAS 2 A
] ¥ ) A% s 3 0 1,183,0009 G ©
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31 March 2011 —2——f§=A=+—8

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

The principal effects of adopting these new and revised HKFRSs

are as follows: (continued)

(b)

Improvements to HKFRSs 2009 issued in May 2009 sets
out amendments to a number of HKFRSs. There are
separate transitional provisions for each standard. While the
adoption of some of the amendments results in changes in
accounting policies, none of these amendments has had a
significant financial impact on the Group. Details of the key

amendments most applicable to the Group are as follows:

HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: Requires that only
expenditures that result in a recognised asset in the
statement of financial position can be classified as a

cash flow from investing activities.

HKAS 17 Leases: Removes the specific guidance on
classifying land as a lease. As a result, leases of land
should be classified as either operating or finance
leases in accordance with the general guidance in
HKAS 17.

HK Interpretation 4 Leases — Determination of the
Length of Lease Term in respect of Hong Kong Land
Leases is revised as a consequence of the amendment
to HKAS 17 Leases included in Improvements to
HKFRSs 2009. Following this amendment, the scope
of HK Interpretation 4 has been expanded to cover all
land leases, including those classified as finance leases.
As a result, this interpretation is applicable to all leases
of property accounted for in accordance with HKAS
16, HKAS 17 and HKAS 40.

The Group has reassessed its leases in Hong Kong
previously classified as operating leases, upon the
adoption of the amendments. As substantially all the
risks and rewards associated with the leases in Hong
Kong have been transferred to the Group, the leases
in Hong Kong have been reclassified from operating
leases under “prepaid land lease payments” to finance
leases under “property, plant and equipment”. The
corresponding amortisation has also been reclassified
to depreciation. The effects of the above changes are

summarised below:
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Notes to Financial Statements Bt # 3& & Hf &

31 March 2011 =Z2——$=8=+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

The principal effects of adopting these new and revised HKFRSs

are as follows: (continued)

(b)

2.2 €l WK B B i 2 52 0 (4)

PRAP % ST T e AR A T A o T s o e A 2

BT ¢ (8

(continued) (b) (&)
2011 2010
S SF R
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT W T T

Consolidated income statement #HE=H=1—HILEEZ

for the year ended 31 March aWaER
Decrease in amortisation of TR A e 3 L A Ak DA 8

prepaid land lease payments (570) (570)
Increase in depreciation W~ WU Bk 4G I 47 2

of property, plant and

equipment 570 570
Consolidated statement RE=A=Z1T—HZEEMBERIE

of financial position

at 31 March
Decrease in prepaid land AT R B A sk A CGRERD)

lease payments, net (29,490) (30,060)
Increase in property, plant W ~ W5 B sk 4 hm ()

and equipment, net 29,490 30,060

2009
e = IS
HKS$’000
BT T

Consolidated statement of WA —HZ&aMERIER

financial position at 1 April
Decrease in prepaid land T AT LA B A 3R A G

lease payments, net (30,630)
Increase in property, plant W~ W Bk 4G ()

and equipment, net 30,630

Due to the retrospective application of the amendments

which has resulted in the restatement of items in the

statement of financial position, a statement of financial

position as at 1 April 2009, and the related notes affected

by the amendments have been presented in these financial

statements.

B 36 O R SRS T > B B B R ULRIEH
AT UES] > BOR ZFFIAFENH — M
R DU 2 o 52 S S T P 5 280 A ) A G A 7% <5

W E R 2 -

—g——=55 53



HONG KONG FOOD INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements Bf #§ 3& & Fft 5

31 March 2011 =Z——$=8=+—H

2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

2.3 TR 4R 0 oA 2 B8 2 7 VB U 5 i
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 3 ]

54

STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these

financial statements.

HKERS 1 Amendment Amendment to HKERS 1 First-time Adoption of Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards - Limited Exemption from
Comparative HKFRS 7 Disclosures for First-time Adopters '

HKERS 1 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption of Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards - Severe Hyperinflation and
Removal of Fixed Dates for First-time Adopters*

HKFRS 7 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures -
Transfers of Financial Assets*

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments *

HKAS 12 Amendments Amendments to HKAS 12 Income Taxes - Deferred Tax:
Recovery of Underlying Assets *

HKAS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosures *

HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 Amendments Amendments to HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 Prepayments of
a Minimum Funding Requirement *

HK(IFRIC)-Int 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments !

Apart from the above, the HKICPA has issued Improvements
to HKFRSs 2010 which sets out amendments to a number of
HKFRSs primarily with a view to removing inconsistencies and
clarifying wording. The amendments to HKFRS 3 and HKAS
27 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July
2010, whereas the amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7, HKAS 1,
HKAS 34 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 13 are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2011 although there are separate

transitional provisions for each standard.

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011
8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013
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2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 O A AR i R 2k 2 7 U8 T i

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Further information about those changes that are expected to

significantly affect the Group is as follows:

HKFRS 9 issued in November 2009 is the first part of phase 1 of
a comprehensive project to entirely replace HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. This phase focuses
on the classification and measurement of financial assets.
Instead of classifying financial assets into four categories, an
entity shall classify financial assets as subsequently measured
at either amortised cost or fair value, on the basis of both
the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets
and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial
assets. This aims to improve and simplify the approach for the
classification and measurement of financial assets compared with
the requirements of HKAS 39.

In November 2010, the HKICPA issued additions to HKFRS 9
to address financial liabilities (the “Additions”) and incorporated
in HKFRS 9 the current derecognition principles of financial
instruments of HKAS 39. Most of the Additions were carried
forward unchanged from HKAS 39, while changes were
made to the measurement of financial liabilities designated
at fair value through profit or loss using the fair value option
(“FVO”). For these FVO liabilities, the amount of change in
the fair value of a liability that is attributable to changes in
credit risk must be presented in other comprehensive income
(“OCTI”). The remainder of the change in fair value is presented
in profit or loss, unless presentation of the fair value change
in respect of the liability’s credit risk in OCI would create or
enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. However, loan
commitments and financial guarantee contracts which have been

designated under the FVO are scoped out of the Additions.

HKAS 39 is aimed to be replaced by HKFRS 9 in its entirety.
Before this entire replacement, the guidance in HKAS 39 on
hedge accounting and impairment of financial assets continues to
apply. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 9 from 1 April 2013.
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2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

HKAS 24 (Revised) clarifies and simplifies the definition of
related parties. It also provides for a partial exemption of related
party disclosure to government-related entities for transactions
with the same government or entities that are controlled, jointly
controlled or significantly influenced by the same government.
The Group expects to adopt HKAS 24 (Revised) from 1 April
2011 and the comparative related party disclosures, if applicable,

will be amended accordingly.

While the adoption of the revised standard will result in changes
in the accounting policy, the revised standard is unlikely to have
any impact on the related party disclosures as the Group currently
does not have any significant transactions with government-

related entities.

Improvements to HKFRSs 2010 issued in May 2010 sets out
amendments to a number of HKFRSs. The Group expects to
adopt the amendments from 1 April 2011. There are separate
transitional provisions for each standard. While the adoption of
some of the amendments may result in changes in accounting
policies, none of these amendments are expected to have a
significant financial impact on the Group. Those amendments that
are expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s policies

are as follows:

(a) HKFRS 3 Business Combinations: Clarifies that the
amendments to HKFRS 7, HKAS 32 and HKAS 39 that
eliminate the exemption for contingent consideration do
not apply to contingent consideration that arose from
business combinations whose acquisition dates precede the
application of HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008).

In addition, the amendments limit the measurement
choice of non-controlling interests at fair value or at the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets to components of non-controlling interests that are
present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the event of
liquidation. Other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless

another measurement basis is required by another HKFRS.

The amendments also added explicit guidance to clarify
the accounting treatment for non-replaced and voluntarily

replaced share-based payment awards.
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2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 O A AR i R 2k 2 7 U8 T i

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

(b) HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Clarifies
that an analysis of other comprehensive income for each
component of equity can be presented either in the statement
of changes in equity or in the notes to the financial
statements.

(c) HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements:
Clarifies that the consequential amendments from HKAS
27 (as revised in 2008) made to HKAS 21, HKAS 28 and
HKAS 31 shall be applied prospectively for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 July 2009 or earlier if HKAS 27 is
applied earlier.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
the impact of these new and revised HKFRSs upon initial
application. So far, the Group considers these new and revised
HKFRSs are unlikely to have a significant impact on the Group’s
results of operations and financial position.

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity in which the Company, directly or
indirectly, controls more than half of its voting power or issued
share capital or controls the composition of its board of directors;
or over which the Company has a contractual right to exercise
a dominant influence with respect to that entity’s financial and

operating policies.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s income
statement to the extent of dividends received and receivable. The
Company’s investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any
impairment losses.

Associates

An associate is an entity, not being a subsidiary, in which the
Group has a long term interest of generally not less than 20%
of the equity voting rights and over which it is in a position to

exercise significant influence.

e (%)

(b) HWERHEUBRGHEHREZEZH W
WY A7 AR i 2% VA7 A R At 2 T L 2 40 AT
T TR i 53 B s A PR R 2]

(c) A & wh e 5279847 4 R s B B #
72 WA o a0 SE27 I (R %%
J\AEREAE T ) B 7 W wh e 52158 - &
W AR R A28 BE M A W A A R A SR 31 9%
Fie A Y B AR LA ST BB IR R R L
H— H B 1% BA 4 2 47 2 191 1) = B 4 E
At A 22758 ik (W b DL R
Fy¥E) EA -

A SR 0 A A R0 25 B % SR T R A T A
W2 EEHM AL > AR
VR 2 0 % T T B ARG BT A 0 S o A B A
K WIS A 8 T 2 A6 S 10 S IR L 0 R T
KEHE -

2.4 BREGHBORRH

H 0 2 ¥l

W g o i) 2y A ) LR R P R A LR DL B
BT R B O B AT A sl ) L AL R
B 5 BCH AR A FE A B AR B O B e A
BUR Bk E T -

Wif Js o W) Z SE AR AR AR AR R A > DL E
W R 2 i B R o A D A ) 2
B 775 AR 1A ] Yk £ s 1 5 MR o

B8 A

gt % v W 75 Wi 2 /) DAAIS > AR RS B A A
D IR20% 5 By # S RE R o HLAS 55 T 3 0 AT
BEEREENZEHE -

—T——FEH

57



58

31 March 2011 —2——f§=A=+—8

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Associates (continued)

The Group’s investments in associates are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s share
of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any
impairment losses. The Group’s share of the post-acquisition
results and reserves of associates is included in the consolidated
income statement and consolidated reserves, respectively.
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between
the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s investments in the associates, except where unrealised
losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates is included
as part of the Group’s investments in associates and is not
individually tested for impairment. Adjustments are made to

bring into line any dissimilar accounting policy that may exist.

The results of associates are included in the Company’s income
statement to the extent of dividends received and receivable. The
Company’s investments in associates are treated as non-current

assets and are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

Business combinations and goodwill
Business combinations from 1 April 2010

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. For each business combination, the acquirer
measures the non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. Acquisition costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.
This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host
contracts by the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition
date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in
the acquiree is remeasured to fair value as at the acquisition date
through profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 EEEFHEHEORHEHE ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)
Business combinations from 1 April 2010 (continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent
changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which
is deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised in accordance
with HKAS 39 either in profit or loss or as a change to other
comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration is
classified as equity, it shall not be remeasured until it is finally
settled within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised
for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the net
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of
this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of
the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as
at 31 March. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups
of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets
or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of
units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit (group
of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that
unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation.
Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on
the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of
the cash-generating unit retained.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Business combinations prior to 1 April 2010 but after 1 April
2005

In comparison to the above-mentioned requirements which were
applied on a prospective basis, the following differences applied

to business combinations prior to 1 April 2010:

Business combinations were accounted for using the purchase
method. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
formed part of the acquisition costs. The non-controlling interest
was measured at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s

identifiable net assets.

Business combinations achieved in stages were accounted for as
separate steps. Any additional acquired share of interest did not

affect previously recognised goodwill.

When the Group acquired a business, embedded derivatives
separated from the host contract by the acquiree were not
reassessed on acquisition unless the business combination
resulted in a change in the terms of the contract that significantly
modified the cash flows that otherwise would have been required
under the contract.

Contingent consideration was recognised if, and only if, the
Group had a present obligation, the economic outflow was
more likely than not and a reliable estimate was determinable.
Subsequent adjustments to the contingent consideration were

recognised as part of goodwill.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
financial assets and goodwill), the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value
less costs to sell, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in
which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-

generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 EEEHHBORME (H)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued) FLmE W (5)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount VA T R A B A 22 1 T L 0 A g [ s R
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value RT3 o FA AL 5 B 16 1 i Y e Wi g i 355
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their S B IRE R DA B B S FH B ) AR o R e ) [
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current BT BRI B B s R KRB SR B ZBE -
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks VAR S 18 1 DRAE B 2 =2 T BB BT 8 B S 4 R
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the income HaEAZ WM =P 28 o

statement in the period in which it arises in those expense
categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as AR AR > ISP RS A B R Z IR
to whether there is any indication that previously recognised WHEHEBBHOAEHRFZAREWS - MBHEA
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. BN » HIZEAGFE T U Bl 2 %0 o Z B ERR 2
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. BEE (P ERAN) WE S 8 R B DA T & &
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than 2 ] Wi o] SRR 2 A T B A B AR R R T > MER%
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the BB A58 0 A8 5 B S IR A AR B N R
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, T 8 VA 1T T DA R T =2 R AR (0 B AT T
but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would Yres WREY) o w% B Inl 2 Y6 0 18 % R 3 E A
have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had Z W HFE AR -

no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the income

statement in the period in which it arises.

Related parties B A -

A party is considered to be related to the Group if: ETFHERT > — i EAREEGH :

(a) the party, directly or indirectly through one or more (a) — W HZERBE BB —HE P
intermediaries, (i) controls, is controlled by, or is under M > (1) FaE A 45 1B B A 4 [ e o) B B AR
common control with, the Group; (ii) has an interest in the 4 H) 32 25 R e 5 )R A S B B REZS 1E
Group that gives it significant influence over the Group; or e B AR W 470 B OREH 5 BiGinDH
(iii) has joint control over the Group; AL ] B A 3L 1] e i BE

(b) the party is an associate; (b) —HEEBEAF

(c) the party is a jointly-controlled entity; () — i AIEPBEH AT

(d) the party is a member of the key management personnel of (dy —hAAREAZTZEEMABZRE 3
the Group;

(e) the party is a close member of the family of any individual (e) —7J7 % H(a)B(d)HZAEM AN+ Z FKER H
referred to in (a) or (d); 2B

—z——£58 61
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 T o 58Ok 9 = ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)

(f) the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled or
significantly influenced by or for which significant voting
power in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any
individual referred to in (d) or (e); or

(g) the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of the employees of the Group, or of any entity that is a
related party of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use. Expenditure incurred
after items of property, plant and equipment have been put into
operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged
to the income statement in the period in which it is incurred.
In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets
with specific useful lives and depreciation.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual
rates used for this purpose are as follows:
Leasehold land under Over the lease terms

finance leases

Buildings 2.5%
Leasehold improvements,

furniture and fixtures 10% — 20%
Motor vehicles 10% — 20%
Computer systems 30%
Office equipment 10% — 20%
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 EEEFHEHEORHEHE ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each

financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised
in the income statement in the year the asset is derecognised is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying

amount of the relevant asset.

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are
accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance
lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised at the present
value of the minimum lease payments and recorded together
with the obligation, excluding the interest element, to reflect the
purchase and financing. Assets held under capitalised finance
leases, including prepaid land lease payments under finance
leases, are included in property, plant and equipment, and
depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated
useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of such leases are
charged to the income statement so as to provide a constant

periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership
of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating
leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group
under operating leases are included in non-current assets, and
rentals receivable under the operating leases are credited to the
income statement on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.
Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating
leases are charged to the income statement on the straight-line

basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially
stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line

basis over the lease terms.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets within the scope of HKAS 39 are classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and loans
and receivables, as appropriate. The Group determines the
classification of its financial assets at initial recognition. When
financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair
value, plus, in the case of investments not at fair value through

profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by

regulation or convention in the marketplace.

The Group’s financial assets include cash and cash equivalents,
amounts due from associates, trade receivables, deposits and
other receivables and financial assets at fair value through profit

or loss.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include the
financial assets held for trading. Financial assets are classified
as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale
in the near term. This category includes derivative financial
instruments entered into by the Group that are not designated as
hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by HKAS
39. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are
also classified as held for trading unless they are designated
as effective hedging instruments. Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial
position at fair value with changes in fair value recognised
in the income statement. These net fair value changes do not
include any dividends or interest earned on these financial assets,
which are recognised in accordance with the policies set out for

“Revenue recognition” below.
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Notes to Financial Statements Bt # 3} & Hf &%

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

The Group evaluates its financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (held for trading) to assess whether the intent to
sell them in the near term is still appropriate. When the Group
is unable to trade these financial assets due to inactive markets
and management’s intent to sell them in the foreseeable future
significantly changes, the Group may elect to reclassify these
financial assets in rare circumstances. The reclassification from
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss to loans and
receivables, available-for-sale financial assets or held-to-maturity
investments depends on the nature of the assets. This evaluation
does not affect any financial assets designated at fair value
through profit or loss using the fair value option at designation.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. After initial measurement, such assets are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate
method less any allowance for impairment. Amortised cost
is calculated taking into account any discount or premium on
acquisition and includes fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation
is included in other income and gains in the income statement.
The loss arising from impairment is recognised in the income

statement in administrative expenses.
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HONG KONG FOOD INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements &t #% & & Fft 5

31 March 2011 =Z——$=8=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 EEEHEHBORPE (H)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets AT W R A

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset LSRG E (GMER  FAESMEESENS

or part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised Bl A AL — ) AE A LA TR

when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; . TE % A WBUR & 2 REA B e i 5 Bk
or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows o  AREHUCHEGFEMREEBINH ST ZHERN -
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the B R ER IR [ E | 2 A0 oK
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third ZETFRMB OB ZHERIMNERE=S
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the F2Z BAL 5 R(a) A5 M B 5 2 B KRB
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards 5 JE\ B S 0] i G > B (b) AN 48 E) 3 S el
of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor DR S g A Gl A D E R A
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, T o 2 e o RE o

but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows A 45 18 O e O B i T i I A i B 4
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, and MEZREN T B2 HE > g sk iR
has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and BA B A W R R A0 B A T B B el 3 o I AT G
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset BEZEHIRE  BEIRAEHNEEZREZ
is recognised to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement B HER o INEZIBULT » ANEE I ZMHE A
in the asset. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated & o O s M FH B B 15 5 % I e A 4 8 4
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are PR R JH 2 RS o

measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that

the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over B2 EME RS SR E S > AIDLE
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original e 2 JE B AT D), B A 4 [ AT R 1 R 2 A
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of BAEHZREESE -

consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 BEEFFEHEORHEHE ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group
of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of
financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there
is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more
events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset
(an incurred “loss event”) and that loss event has an impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group
of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of
impairment may include indications that a debtor or a group of
debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default
or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability
that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation
and observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease
in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or

economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first
assesses individually whether objective evidence of impairment
exists for financial assets that are individually significant,
or collectively for financial assets that are not individually
significant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence
of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial
asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a
group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics
and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that
are individually assessed for impairment and for which an
impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not
included in a collective assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that
have not yet been incurred). The present value of the estimated
future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed
at initial recognition). If a loan has a variable interest rate, the
discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current

effective interest rate.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 T o 58Ok 9 = ()

638

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced either directly or
through the use of an allowance account and the amount of
the loss is recognised in the income statement. Interest income
continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount and
is accrued using the rate of interest used to discount the future
cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.
Loans and receivables together with any associated allowance are
written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery
and all collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the

Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting
the allowance account. If a future write-off is later recovered,
the recovery is credited to administrative expenses in the income

statement.

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried at
fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, the
amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a
similar financial asset. Impairment losses on these assets are not

reversed.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 EEEHEHBORPE (H)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities A SR

Initial recognition and measurement VIER T8

Financial liabilities within the scope of HKAS 39 are classified RIEREE ST E3095E » A8 5
as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss or TR PAE 7 M H 2 AR Z 4 b B 08 B Bk i
loans and borrowings, as appropriate. The Group determines the B () o AR B AR ) U 7 iR Ry e g H 4
classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition. A28 -

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and P A 4 Rl 108 20 25 3 S (R 5 S s Bk I
in the case of loans and borrowings, plus directly attributable 5 8% > B b T 2 HE A 28 B AR o

transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities including trade and bills AREFZSMAEOIEYE S & EAMZHE - HAh
payables, other payables, a derivative financial instrument and WA BRI - AT 2R A h T H R E B MRATH R o

interest-bearing bank borrowings.

Subsequent measurement K1 Al 2

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their A BERESEZEEITTEWT
classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss RN E B NREZ 2l A 1

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include AP EBEREZARZ A ECKEHEE
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities B2 oM AEEY G R ELAEA AR
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit MBERARZ SRARE -

or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they AR ABENSEENEE > BI85
are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term. This e B H o i3 0 45 A 48 [ R ET Snm 0f IR e
category includes derivative financial instruments entered into E R ¥ vh g w L I SR 305 i St 1) i B AR
by the Group that are not designated as hedging instruments in Bh T H AT A 4wl T o B B A AT A
hedge relationships as defined by HKAS 39. Separated embedded THEMABASHEWTH  SASEAFEEE
derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are B o EEZABZABEARSZE PR -
designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on TE W3R 3 N WERR B A P E B 25 3 A A B St 3%
liabilities held for trading are recognised in the income statement. A5 4 b B 5 T 0 I B AR AT A B o

The net fair value gain or loss recognised in the income
statement does not include any interest charged on these financial
liabilities.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 B o 58Ok 9 = ()

70

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses
are recognised in the income statement when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate method

amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance costs in the income statement.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to
make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a
debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised
initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of the
guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures
the financial guarantee contract at the higher of: (i) the amount
of the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period; and (ii) the
amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative
amortisation.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under

the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the

income statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if,
and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset
the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities

simultaneously.

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active
markets is determined by reference to quoted market prices or
dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price
for short positions), without any deduction for transaction costs.
For financial instruments where there is no active market, the fair
value is determined using appropriate valuation techniques. Such
techniques include using recent arm’s length market transactions;
reference to the current market value of another instrument which
is substantially the same; a discounted cash flow analysis; and
option pricing models.

Derivative financial instrument

The Group used a derivative financial instrument that was a
forward currency contract to hedge its foreign currency risk in
the prior years. Such derivative financial instrument was initially
recognised at fair value on the date on which the derivative
contract was entered into and is subsequently remeasured at fair
value. Derivatives were carried as assets when the fair value was
positive and as liabilities when the fair value was negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives were taken directly to the income statement, except
for the effective portion of cash flow hedges, which was

recognised in other comprehensive income.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis and
includes all costs of purchase, costs of conversion, and other
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling
prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion and

disposal.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Other non-current asset

Other non-current asset represents an unlisted club debenture
which is intended to be held for long term purposes, and is stated
at cost less any impairment loss. The club debenture is tested for
impairment annually either individually or at the cash-generating

unit level.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity

of generally within three months when acquired.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, including

term deposits, which are not restricted as to use.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or

directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods
are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or
paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and

practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts

for financial reporting purposes.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 BEEEFHEHEORHEHE ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary

differences, except:

. where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit

nor taxable profit or loss; and

. in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, where the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences

will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax
losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences, and
the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can

be utilised, except:

. where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects

neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

G in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, deferred tax
assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which the

temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of
each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to

allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised
or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the

reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same
taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be
measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) from the sale of goods, when the significant risks and
rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer,
provided that the Group maintains neither managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership, nor effective control over the goods sold;

(b) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that discounts the
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of
the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the

financial asset;

(c) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to receive
payment has been established;

(d) rental income, on a time proportion basis over the lease
terms; and

(e) commission income, in the period in which services are

rendered.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 BEEFFEHEORHEHE ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits
Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to the income statement as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The
Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme, except for the Group’s
employer voluntary contributions, which are refunded to the
Group when the employee leaves employment prior to the
contributions vesting fully, in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme.

Share-based payment transactions

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payment transactions, whereby employees
render services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-

settled transactions™).

The cost of equity-settled transactions is measured by reference
to the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair
value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial model
or the Black-Scholes model.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together
with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which
the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The
cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at
the end of each reporting period until the vesting date reflects the
extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the income statement
for a period represents the movement in the cumulative expense

recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)
Share-based payment transactions (continued)

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest,
except for equity-settled transactions where vesting is conditional
upon a market or non-vesting condition, which are treated as
vesting irrespective of whether or not the market or non-vesting
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or

service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition,
an expense is recognised for any modification that increases
the total fair value of the share-based payment transaction, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of

modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as
if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it is
granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were
a modification of the original award, as described in the previous
paragraph. All cancellations of equity-settled transaction awards

are treated equally.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings/(loss) per
share.
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Notes to Financial Statements Bt # & & Hf &%

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified as a
separate allocation of retained profits within the equity section of
the statement of financial position, until they have been approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting. When these dividends
have been approved by the shareholders and declared, they are
recognised as a liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of association
grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency.
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
and items included in the financial statements of each entity
are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates
ruling at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of
the reporting period. All differences are taken to the income
statement.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
determined.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the
end of the reporting period. However, uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the

assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial

year, are discussed below.

Impairment of investments in associates

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for investments in associates at the end of each
reporting period. Investments in associates are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying amounts
may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying
value of investments in associates exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and
its value in use. The calculation of the fair value less costs to
sell is based on available data from observable market prices less
incremental costs for disposing of the investments. When value
in use calculations are undertaken, management must estimate
the expected share of future cash flows expected to be generated
by the associates, including the cash flows from the operations
of the associates and the proceeds on the ultimate disposal of
the investments; or the future cash flows expected to arise from
dividends to be received from the investments and from its
ultimate disposal and choose a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value of those cash flows.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management
judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax
assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and
level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies. The carrying value of deferred tax assets relating
to recognised tax losses at 31 March 2011 was HK$4,519,000
(2010: HK$4,673,000). The amounts of unrecognised tax losses
at 31 March 2011 was HK$40,689,000 (2010: HK$10,804,000).
Further details are contained in note 26 to the financial
statements.

Impairment of trade receivables

The Group conducts impairment reviews of financial assets
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
their carrying amounts may not be recoverable in accordance
with the relevant accounting standards. Determining whether
an asset is impaired requires an estimation of the future cash
flows and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value. Where the actual future cash flows are less than
expected, the Group would be required to revise the basis of
making the allowance and its future results would be affected.
As at 31 March 2011, no provision for impairment loss of
trade receivables was made. As at 31 March 2010, a provision
for impairment loss of trade receivables of HK$735,000
was made and the carrying amount of trade receivables was
HK$44,209,000.

OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION

The Group has only one single operating segment which is the
trading of frozen meat, seafood and vegetables. The Group’s
turnover, representing sales of goods, and operating results are
substantially derived from the business activities in Hong Kong.
Accordingly, no segment information is presented as only one
business report is reviewed by management to make strategic

decisions.
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. WA ~ IoqB A B Wt

GAINS

Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents the net

invoiced value of goods sold, after allowances for returns and

WA B A 2 8 2R > IR B R BT
0% A B B o A - LA K

trade discounts. An analysis of revenue, other income and gains WA Z AT :
is as follows:
Group
3|
2011 2010
e e
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T W T T
Revenue B A 439,544 559,501
Other income Il e A
Bank interest income SRATF B WA 57 54
Commission income el A - 151
Claims received BB A 134 138
Dividend income from financial AT EZEBBRARY
assets at fair value through Mg EZ B BIRA
profit or loss 77 101
Gross rental income B A WA 436 668
704 1,112
Gains W
Foreign exchange differences, net I 5o 5% B > AR 12) 1,287
Gain on disposal of items of &Y -~ BE Kk A
property, plant and equipment JHHZ W 48 -
Gain on disposal of financial B N B W HH 2
assets at fair value through AR Y 45 il R 2 W aR
profit or loss 61 16,650
Gain on acquisition of additional i N Tk 2 m) A AP RE 25
interests in an associate Z Wz - 800
Gain on deemed acquisition of e AR A i A\ B 7 A ) AL Ab
additional interests in an associate i #% Z WL 4% 1 1,111
98 19,848
802 20,960
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6.

FINANCE COSTS

6. AR

31 March 2011 =Z——$=8=+—H

An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BE AR Z 4t e
Group
£
2011 2010
S e
HKS$’000 HKS$’000
W T BT T
Interest on bank and trust receipt R =AE A AN 2 R
loans wholly repayable within Z HRAT B I AR e R
three months Bakh B 1,054 704

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after charging/

7. BRBERT &AL O #1)

AEEZBBETEN S (ER) S G

(crediting): A) s
Group
L]
2011 2010
R S
Notes HKS$’000 HK$’000
Wt it BT T BWF T
Cost of inventories sold O EZ A 437,975 525,483
Depreciation e 14 3,403 3,671
Minimum lease payments e e A AR LA
under operating leases in Z AR A 4
respect of land and buildings 15,151 12,905
Auditors’ remuneration % S il T 680 645
Employee benefit expense 1 B & #1 b 52
(including directors’ (5 F &
remuneration (note 8)): (HaEs)) -
Wages, salaries, allowances T& -~ #Hi4 o~ 3
and benefits in kind K B 1 A 17,941 17,878
Pension scheme contributions R4 Fh il 2 g sk 984 995
18,925 18,873
Foreign exchange differences, net I 5 26 52 > Y 12 (1,287)
Net rental income AH & W\ (224) (224)
Fair value gains on financial A IE B 4H 25 AR
assets at fair value through (IR 2 /NS Y (R €
profit or loss (2,556) (631)
Impairment of trade receivables JAE W B B MR ok A 19 231 1,271
Write-down of inventories to WA £ 2 R) 5 B
net realisable value* 865 609
Gain on acquisition of additional S N6 8 28 R B M RE £
interests in an associate” Z WA 16 - (800)
Gain on deemed acquisition of PARAE AT 2 A )
additional interests in an associate” AN 75 2 W gsn 16 1 (1,111)
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31 March 2011 =Z——$=8=+—H

7. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX
(continued)

7. BRBLWI &R, O #) (40

B MR B T B M 6 R A A [
BRAIA

& The write-down of inventories to net realisable value is included in
“Cost of sales” in the consolidated income statement.

A NI A BTN 2 W RS R AR AT
B A AN 2 ek OB R A A R [
i e A B W a1 Y o

2 The gain on acquisition of additional interests in an associate and
gain on deemed acquisition of additional interests in an associate
are included in “Other income and gains” in the consolidated
income statement.

8. HIHM4

A IR b TR R A m RS 161
A T ez

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the
Listing Rules and Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, is as follows:

82

Group
0]

2011 2010

R4 TR R

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT BT T

Fees 4 654 660

Other emoluments: Al T 4 -

Salaries, allowances and Fid - B RED

benefits in kind Fll 7,076 6,589

Pension scheme contributions PEY N | e ¢ 310 282

7,386 6,871

8,040 7,531

(a) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during

the year were as follows:

(a) ML PAT HE P

FRNOCHRTELIERTERE ST -

2011 2010

R4 TERE

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T T

CHAN Kay Cheung BRAL B 60 60
LAN Yee Fong, Steve John BN 60 60
LUI Shing Ming, Brian T 60 60
180 180

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent

non-executive directors during the year (2010: Nil).

ANNUAL REPORT 2011

A P S B Lt T < B A T B S DR AT

(ZF—F4F ) o



BEERRREERERAR

Notes to Financial Statements Bt # 3} & Hf &

31 March 2011 =Z2——$=8=+—H

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. WML (H)
(continued)
(b) Executive directors (b) AT
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Total
Fees in kind contributions remuneration
W4~ HWh L N e |

M4 LR Z sk AR K
HK$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HK$°000
BT BT BT BT

2011 R4
TAI Tak Fung, Stephen A 120 2,880 12 3,012
Takeshi NOMAGUCHI Ligrilupy 54 1,613 65 1,732
MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis K 60 1,230 124 1,414
TAI Chun Leung R 60 715 39 814
YIP Wai Keung £ 60 - 3 63
TSE Siu Wan WA E 60 = 3 63
LAI Yuk Chuen BER 60 638 64 762
474 7,076 310 7,860

2010 SRR
TAI Tak Fung, Stephen LRy 120 2,880%* 12 3,012
Takeshi NOMAGUCHI Ligrilnpy 60 1,841 72 1,973
MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis SCAKHE 60 1,230 125 1,415
TAI Chun Leung HER 60 = 3 63
YIP Wai Keung BE {08 60 = 3 63
TSE Siu Wan WA E 60 = 3 63
LAI Yuk Chuen BER 60 638 64 762
480 6,589 282 7,351
* In the prior year, included in the above salaries, allowances * A > BN LA 4 - HIE R E YA

and benefits in kind was a discretionary bonus of T4 1% 46 412,880,000 JG ©

HK$2,880,000.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived RN > £ SN SRR DR AT ) & B i FE W]
or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2010: AR A (2R —F4E - ) o
Nil).
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9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9. T4 367 Bl 5 75 R H
The five highest paid employees during the year included five BN HALH MR R AR ALER (SR
(2010: four) directors, details of whose remuneration are set out —FAE AL »c HEEREZMAEENEN EC
in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining Fif k8 o i B4R BE i — L IEHE 3 R W A
one non-director, highest paid employee for the last year are as BEZWMAeZEHBNT
follows:
Group
3|
2011 2010
TR —Ap R
HK$’000 HK$’000
T T W T T
Salaries, allowances and P4~ B R B A R
benefits in kind - 623
Pension scheme contributions B4l 2 kR - 58
- 681
The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose Ik 2 N O v R B e T S AL 2 B
remuneration fell within the following band is as follows: H :
Number of employees
e B A%
2011 2010
e it S
Nil to HK$1,000,000 ¥ 21,000,000 7T - 1
e
10. INCOME TAX 10. i £ 8L
No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the FH P AR 4 J5E P A 458 [0 6 06 77 A D IOCAE: R
Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in Hong B A > Pt 3 0550 7 v R A5 B A Hh B4 o R
Kong during the year. In the prior year, no provision for Hong AR > R AR [ L T 4 0 A T s 4R DA
Kong profits tax has been made as the Group had adequate tax B ZE A BB SRR » K i 5
losses available for utilisation against assessable profits generated Ve 7 Vs 1) 15 B S8t 5 o
in Hong Kong during that year.
Group
3|
2011 2010
e S 2 TR RE
HK$’000 HK$°000
W T 7 BT T
Current — Hong Kong BUAE — 75 W
Overprovision in prior years 20 A AP R0 B S A5 (1,538) -
Deferred (note 26) BIE (M it26) 277 2,272
Total tax charge/(credit) for the year AAEEZ BBLE T W (k) (1,261) 2,272
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10. INCOME TAX (continued)

A reconciliation of the tax expense/(credit) applicable to profit/

(loss) before tax at the statutory rate for the jurisdiction in which

the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled

to the tax expense/(credit) at the effective tax rate, and a

31 March 2011 =Z——$=8=+—H

10. B £ 88 (%1)

AR A Oy W) T B 32 B Y I A W) A ) 9 4
I 35 A Bt G A ELJE R BR B AT A Ofs
) ZBEXW (R K AEBER R HZ
BRIE S 7 (HE 5 ) B HR > DA R i B % (B 3

reconciliation of the applicable rate (i.e., the statutory tax rate) to ERR) EHEBEER L BIENMT
the effective tax rate, are as follows:
Group
£ |
2011 2010
S S
HK$’000 HK$°000
BT T BT T
Profit/(loss) before tax B B i i #1548 (7,176) 46,547
Less: Share of profits and W AL I 2 N W) i A
losses of associates q i (21,330) (24,989)
(28,506) 21,558
Tax at the Hong Kong statutory AW BB 16.5% 5T 5
rate of 16.5% Z B (4,703) 3,557
Adjustment in respect of current i ] 2 BLAT BT 2 i %
tax of previous periods (1,538) -
Income not subject to tax WA Z WA (30) (341)
Expenses not deductible for tax S A B I 0 3 201 80
Tax losses utilised from B JH 8 A3 30 ] = A T s 4R
previous periods (325) (1,075)
Tax losses not recognised R R 2 B IE e 4R 5,220 -
Others ot (86) 51
Tax charge/(credit) at the WAREHEBRREH
Group’ s effective rate (Hf) 2 BiE (1,261) 2,272

The share of tax attributable to associates amounting to
HK$5,297,000 (2010: HK$4,832,000) is included in “Share
of profits and losses of associates” in the consolidated income

statement.

WA T % o ) 2 BLIE 4£5,297,0008 08 (=& —
RAE 1 4,832,000% 00) CEBE R A RERZ
[ AN 56 2% s W) s A s 180 A e

B 555
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11.

12.

13.

PROFIT/(LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The consolidated profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2011 includes a profit of
HK$6,000 (2010: HK$42,000) which has been dealt with in the
financial statements of the Company (note 29(b)).

11

WS EV RS v
O 48
BEZ——ES A=+ HILEE2AAR

HE 25 10T A 5 B A A% A iR AU (5 4R) B.4%6,000
#IL (R — R4 42,0008 70) Z WAl > T
Aoy 7] 2 B i v s B (K29 (b))

DIVIDENDS 12. B B
2011 2010
- %5
HK$’000 HK$°000
T T BT T
Interim — HK1.0 cent w3 — B 1.0 Al
(2010: HK1.0 cent) per (ZF—4 : 1.0%:4)
ordinary share 2,596 2,596
Proposed final — HK3.0 cents R AR — 19 B @ B3.0% Il
(2010: HK3.0 cents) per TR 3.084l)
ordinary share 7,788 7,788
10,384 10,384
The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the approval AR AR B 2 S A 1 IR B 2R AR A ) 2 R i e R

of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general

meeting.

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic earnings/(loss) per share amounts
is based on the loss for the year attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the Company of HK$5,915,000 (2010: profit of
HK$44,275,000), and on the 259,586,000 (2010: 259,586,000)
ordinary shares in issue during the year.

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings/(loss) per
share amounts presented for the years ended 31 March 2011 and
2010 in respect of a dilution as the Group had no potentially

dilutive ordinary shares in issue during those years.
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BRBEARBF, (R ) TI MR8 AR B AR A 5%
98 ME 25 BT A % AL I $85,915,0008 06 (=& —
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31 March 2011 =Z2——$=8=+—H

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. 9% - B3 Rt
Group £ M
Leasehold
Land improvements,
and furniture Motor Computer Office
buildings and fixtures vehicles systems equipment Total
ARy
®B- G
LMY KR ol EWRSE  MARRH st
HKS$°000 HK$’000 HKS$°000 HKS$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000
#W T #W T BT #W T #WTIL #W T
31 March 2011 . . =V =% el
At 31 March 2010 and REZZ-ZREZ[=+—H
at 1 April 2010: RZZ-FENA—H:
Cost A 102,205 3317 9,659 2,880 976 119,037
Accumulated depreciation ZRHTE R
and impairment (24,770) (3,278) (4,861) (2,795) (928) (36,632)
Net carrying amount (restated) MR T HH (51 77435 39 4,798 85 48 82,405
At 1 April 2010, net of REZ-FENA—H >
accumulated depreciation TG B8 Rt
and impairment (restated) (E31) 77,435 39 4,798 85 48 82,405
Additions wE - - 460 147 6 613
Disposal & - - (142) = - (142)
Depreciation provided ENCREZTE
during the year (2,088) (25) (1,173) (87) (30) (3,403)
At 31 March 2011, net of R-F——E=ZA=+—H:
accumulated depreciation TR AT R (K
and impairment 75,347 14 3,943 145 24 79,473
At 31 March 2011: RoF——HEZH=F—H:
Cost A 102,205 3317 9,646 3,027 982 119,177
Accumulated depreciation BT E R
and impairment (26,858) (3,303) (5,703) (2,882) (958) (39,704)
Net carrying amount R 75,347 14 3,943 145 pr| 79,473
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. P93 ~ Wb B st il (A0)
(continued)
Group £ M
Leasehold
Land  improvements,
and furniture Motor Computer Office
buildings and fixtures vehicles systems equipment Total
HERT
KB KR
L RET REE i EWARE  MAERE st
HK$'000 HKS$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$’000
EW T #H T BN T #H T #H T #H T
(Restated) (Restated)
(&) (71
31 March 2010 SE-RESNET-N
At 1 April 2009: ZEFNENA—H
Cost A 102,205 3310 9,429 2,862 970 118,776
Accumulated depreciation ZE T R
and impairment (22,682) (2,952) (3,711) (2,721) (895) (32,961)
Net carrying amount T T o 0 79,523 358 5,718 141 75 85,815
At 1 April 2009, net of REZZZNENA—H >
accumulated depreciation TG R R
and impairment 79,523 358 5718 141 75 85,815
Additions wE - 7 230 18 6 261
Depreciation provided ERCRHEZNE
during the year (2,088) (326) (1,150) (74) 33) (3,071)
At 31 March 2010, net of REZ-ZE=A=+—H>
accumulated depreciation CAmbR Bt 478 Rk 14
and impairment 77435 39 4,798 85 48 82,405
At 31 March 2010: REF-BEZA=F-0
Cost A 102,205 3317 9,659 2,880 976 119,037
Accumulated depreciation Rt R
and impairment (24,770) (3,278) (4,861) (2,795) (928) (36,632)
Net carrying amount T i o £ 77,435 39 4,798 85 48 82,405
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31 March 2011 =Z——$=8=+—H

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y3 ~ W Bkt i (48)
(continued)

AL B AW WBE B il 2 b e A A
W I THIMAFA

The Group’s lands included in property, plant and equipment are
situated in Hong Kong and are held under the following lease

terms:
2011 2010
—® g S
HKS$°000 HK$’000
T BT
Long term leases RWIHLA 9,490 9,505
Medium term leases w3 FHL 4 20,000 20,555
29,490 30,060

15. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 15. A B A 7 2 B %

Company
A

2011 2010

e e

HK$’000 HK$’000

0TI BT T

Unlisted shares, at cost I bR > R 39,004 39,004
Loans to subsidiaries BT WEAF Z B 174,589 172,176
213,593 211,180
Impairment” (9,049) (9,049)
204,544 202,131

LA < £ = T /i A E < e T << )
W T x5 - BRI O R MR T L 2% 12,049,000 7T (411
Fx AP R T ) (= — R4 ¢ 12,049,000% 78)
2% T I T 8 I E R I E.9,049,000% 7T ©
AR JBE T b AR B > Yl A R NI e 2 Y o

An impairment of HK$9,049,000 was recognised for an unlisted
investment with a carrying amount of HK$12,049,000 (before
deducting the impairment loss) (2010: HK$12,049,000) because
the carrying amount of the investment in the subsidiary exceeded
its recoverable amount as estimated by the directors. There was
no change in the impairment account during the current and prior

years.
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15. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 15. B ARl 2 88 ()

90

(continued)

The amounts due from and to subsidiaries included in
the Company’s current assets and current liabilities of
HK$406,000 (2010: HK$376,000) and HK$24,200,000 (2010:
HK$11,399,000), respectively, are unsecured, interest-free and

repayable on demand.

The loans to subsidiaries included in investments in subsidiaries
above are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of
repayment. In the opinion of the directors, these advances are
considered as quasi-equity loans to the subsidiaries.

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

A2\ ) i B B A B i B £ P9 R R R % R
A5V JB5 2 W) 3K T 43 Bl 5 406,000 06 (=R —F
4 1 376,000% J0) $%24,200,000% 6 (ZF—F
£ 1 11,399,000%7C) > 32 MEHLHT ~ S0 B R H
FB A RK o

B 45 B 7 B 2 R 2 BB N AT R A 2
2R A ST ~ G0 8 % oI [ R R AR o E
TRy > WS B A S T PO 2 ] 2 SR
i Bk o

F R R R A Z T

Percentage of

Place of Nominal value of equity attributable
registration and issued ordinary to the Company
Name operations share capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
A 4 v B A
O AT B L E-3ipid A
# X R B JBe 7% Wi fFL HE A% ER 3 377
Capital Season Investments British Virgin US$1 - 100.0 Investment holding
Limited Islands/ 13£70 E gyl
Hong Kong
b3 ) iy
Tk
Hung King Development Hong Kong HK$400,000 - 100.0 Property holding
Limited ERE 400,000 78 eSS
WRBRARAF
William Food Company Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 100.0 - Trading of frozen
Limited ik 10,000,000% 6 meats, seafood and
WEC & A A vegetables
WK 5

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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16. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 16. A B A vl 2 B ¥
Group
#EM
2011 2010
S
HK$’000 HK$’000
T BT
Share of net assets FEAY: & 2 319,505 298,387
Goodwill on acquisition W A TR 12,364 12,364
331,869 310,751
Market value of listed shares b B 2 A 270,786 293,832
Goodwill
LR
HK$’000
B o
Cost and carrying amount W_RFLFENUA—H - R -FF=A=1+—H -
at 1 April 2009, 31 March 2010, ZER-FEMA R _F—-—H=ZA=1—H
1 April 2010 and 31 March 2011 Z AR e % T 12,364
The amounts due from associates included in the Group’s current AL 35 A A 4 [ 2 3 B A T 2 T WO A N ]k
assets are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. TE B RGN 0B R B OR R
During the year ended 31 March 2011, Four Seas Mercantile BE_ZF——44F=HA=1+—H1LFE  OHN
Holdings Limited (“FSMHL”) re-purchased and cancelled certain SE A PR A (Y9 45 B | el S 5 6 o T
of its ordinary shares. As a result, the Group’s investments in T R o PRI o ZAS A D DY O 4 T 2 5 B
FSMHL increased by 0.0028% (2010: 0.6509%), and the Group 0.0028% (—F—F4E : 0.6509%) > W ERAKE
recognised a gain on deemed acquisition of additional interests R -—HFEAZ+—HILFEZFARER
in an associate of HK$1,000 (2010: HK$1,111,000) in the TR T R s A AR B A\ T 78 A ) B A RE 35 2 e 2k
consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 March 2011. 1,000 50 (= F —F4F ¢ 1,111,000 0) °
During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group acquired BE_ER-RE=ZHA=Z1+—HILEE » KX4EH
additional interests of 0.35% in FSMHL at an aggregate purchase W B DY DN 4 B 2 A AD0.35 % RE RS o B E AR E
consideration of HK$2,646,000 and recognised a gain on 52,646,000 70 - WEREKE_F—FFE=H
acquisition of additional interests in an associate of HK$800,000 b kAR B A WA AR T R s i A\ T
in the consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 March )\ ] FHAME 25 Z W $5.800,0008 T ©
2010.
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16. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

16. AW 2 v 2 B ¥ ()

(continued)
Particulars of the principal associates are as follows: HZEEBEAFAGFENT
Percentage
of ownership
Place of interest
Particulars of incorporation/ attributable
Name issued shares held registration to the Group Principal activities
fA O sk g 7 45 1 M A
# JBe By 2Z Wt A% X il b L E-¥ipid A ER 3 377
Four Seas Mercantile Holdings Ordinary shares Cayman Islands 29.49 Investment holding
Limited of HK$0.10 each EE=RHa B e
VY Y 4R AR A R o JB T
0.10% 7t Z ¥ 8 i
Fancy Talent Limited* Ordinary shares Hong Kong 29.49 Marketing of
ZEWEA MR A A of HK$1 each T snack foods
o JB T L UN: =k
1370 2 ¥ 1 )k
Four Seas Mercantile Limited (i) Ordinary shares Hong Kong 29.49 Trading in snack
Y B 5 A R of HK$100 each HHE foods, confectionery
(ii) Non-voting and beverages
deferred shares N BER K
of HK$100 each R H 5
(i) 5 JE ThI
1009 76 Z # 8 i
(ii) % JBE THI B 10039 o6 2
S 5 5% 48 0 B Ay
Four Seas Foods (Shantou) Paid-up capital People’s Republic 29.49 Trading in
Co., Ltd.* of HK$96,000,000 of China (“PRC”) confectionery and
VY P A (il ) AR A ] C40U2 A GiE YNESPE ] T food products
96,000,000% 7C (M ) BREEMZHS
Hong Kong Biscuit Ordinary shares Hong Kong 29.27 Investment holding
(International) Limited* of HK$1 each i e i
W er () A R 2 = = B JB T
1970 2 ¥ 98 B
Hong Kong Ham Holdings Ordinary shares Hong Kong 29.49 Manufacturing and
Limited of HK$10 each EE: packaging of ham
T ¥ K B R IR B A ) 9 1B THi and ham-related
103 78 Z 8 ik products
B T 15 K R K
A T B S
J.P. Inglis Company Limited Ordinary shares Hong Kong 29.49 Trading in food
Fe L AT H R A H of HK$10 each Rt materials
B Jie R R 5
109 78 Z % 48 Jie
Kung Tak Lam Shanghai Ordinary shares Hong Kong 29.20 Restaurant
Vegetarian Cuisine Limited of HK$1 each EaE: operations
Pk LR R ARAH o JB T BRERE
1970 2 ¥ 8 B
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16. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

(continued)

Particulars of the principal associates are as follows: (continued)

31 March 2011 =Z2——$=8=+—H

16. AW 2 v 2 B ¥ ()

#HEZEBEARGFHENT - (5)

Percentage
of ownership
Place of interest
Particulars of incorporation/ attributable
Name issued shares held registration to the Group Principal activities
A OB R R 7 4 1 M A
# 1R JBe By 2 W 4 X i b L E-¥ipid’a ER 3 377
Li Fook (Qingdao) Foods Paid-up capital PRC 29.49 Manufacturing
Co., Ltd.* of US$3,320,000 rp of noodles
e (F &) & A RA W O 4R B A Jill £ B
3,320,000 7¢
New Kondo Trading Company Ordinary shares Hong Kong 29.49 Trading in Japanese
Limited of HK$1 each HH food materials
LR SR AHE g Jie THI H A £ i 5B 5
1370 2 i)k

& Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member firm
of the Ernst & Young global network.

The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the

year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the

B R R AR T R R R R A A%
HoAb ki 5 4 A o

b3 B 5 B T 5 TR AR T A RS A M R
A R B AR o AR RS
Fo A Vo 0N W) B R AR A OU R o PR B &

Group. To give details of other associates would, in the opinion w3 AN E M ERA -
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length. All
associates were indirectly held by the Company.
The following table illustrates the summarised financial TREHHAREEG B AR ZHHEREMEEZ
information of the Group’s associates extracted from its financial A R
statements:
2011 2010
R4 R FE
HK$’000 HKS$’000
BT T W T T
Assets % 2,362,492 2,163,798
Liabilities £ i 1,242,763 1,142,127
Revenues WA 2,561,847 2,347,582
Profit iz 7 72,324 86,440
S
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17. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSET

The club debenture represents an entrance fee paid for the use of

17. i I i ) ¥ e

& F 08 20 4 0 61 BT R 2 A 2 A B > i
DRI A -

club facilities and is held on a long term basis.

18. INVENTORIES 18. T+ ¢
Group
#HM
2011 2010
TR SRR
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT o BT
Finished goods J2E J fih 126,342 78,955
19. TRADE RECEIVABLES 19. HE W B 5 Ik 3%
Group
#HM
2011 2010
R4 R
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT o BT
Trade receivables WE W & 5 Bk 40,725 44,944
Impairment PAE = (735)
40,725 44,209

ALEBEFZH A RMUE RS L WH%E
B el EHE A K o fE R s 2=
H oo f % P A G BB o ARG ) Kk
4 ) o A WO 2 B Wk L o o P A DL
Wt e B A o o A B A U0 A e I A A
SR A o DA B AR 4R I 2 ME WA BT B MRk B
W% % AL MR P AT B o PR SIS TR A AR
R B o HECEE B IR T R o

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit, except for new customers, where payment in advance is
normally required. The credit period is generally one to three
months. Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group
seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables
to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly
by senior management. In view of the aforementioned and the
fact that the Group’s trade receivables relate to a large number
of diversified customers, there is no significant concentration of

credit risk. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.
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19. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

An aged analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the

31 March 2011 =Z——$=8=+—H

19. M e B 5 ik sk (410
TR o AR R 5 I S 2

reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of impairment TEWE GERZER ST :
provisions, is as follows:
Group
HH

2011 2010
ZR 4 R
HK$’000 HK$’000
0T 0 BT T
Within 1 month i A W 30,525 33,124
1 to 2 months 1228 A 10,072 11,050
Over 2 months 2 H DL & 128 35
40,725 44,209

The movements in the provision for impairment of trade

receivables are as follows:

B W S 5 MR ik < WAL R Z B IR DL AN

Group
£

2011 2010

R TR R

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT o

At 1 April WA —H 735 434

Impairment losses recognised (note 7) T R Uk A s 1B (A7) 231 1,271
Amount written off as uncollectible ) M S0 35 W5 I 2 e ek O (966) (970)

At 31 March REH=+—H - 735

In the prior year, included in the above provision for impairment
of trade receivables was a provision for individually impaired
trade receivables of HK$735,000 with a carrying amount
before provision of HK$735,000. The individually impaired
trade receivables related to customers that were in default
or delinquency in payments and were not expected to be
recovered. The Group did not hold any collateral or other credit

enhancements over these balances.

B > B R IR R A R
35 3 B i R %5 735,0009 70 =2 AR 31 HE Uk B 5
MR AR AR HY IR AE 48 f6735,000% 00 - ARIRNEFZ
18 1 kAL 2 JRE WAL B ) e sk % % T 4 it R AR
Ko R A K AR T LI o AR A R N S R K A A
B F5 A A oy R4 5 SR S R BR T -
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19. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

An aged analysis of the trade receivables that are not considered

to be impaired is as follows:

19. ME W B 5 k% (41)
5L 2 A 2 M55 Mk 2 B B 4T 0

Group
£ |
2011 2010
S e
HK$’000 HK$°000
BT T T
Neither past due nor impaired I 6 280 19 5% ok 40,592 44,055
Less than 1 month past due 39 A 16 A 60 118
1 to 2 months past due a1 ZE 28 A 33 30
Over 2 months past due g DN 40 6
40,725 44,209
Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a S e 780 1 sk Y AR 2 E WAk TE v M il B s Al
large number of diversified customers for whom there was no B2 RKBARZE -
recent history of default.
Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a 78 B AH 3 R JAE 2 E W B 5 sk E ) e A 4 E
number of independent customers that have a good track record FTRBALBBEHZED - BIEEAKE » &
with the Group. Based on past experience, the directors of the AR RN ZEAERZEREEE P ME RS
Company are of the opinion that no provision for impairment B > A AR R s v S e ] > e JREZE AR
is necessary in respect of these balances as there has not been S URAE B M o AN 1 N JE R % A AL AR FR A AT A
a significant change in credit quality and the balances are still A o B Al £ R 4R T o

considered fully recoverable. The Group does not hold any

collateral or other credit enhancements over these balances.
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20. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND 20. TAT kI ~ T 4 B U il i ek 9K
OTHER RECEIVABLES
Group Company
M 2
2011 2010 2011 2010
S SFCRE CF ok CF %K
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
BT W T W T T BT
(Restated)
(H5)
Prepayments TE AT K H 299 566 121 125
Deposits and other receivables HE-SE X
JE Wk S 601 1,578 5 5
900 2,144 126 130
None of the above assets is either past due or impaired. The bl N A A o b A R A Al
financial assets included in the above balances relate to BB T A ] A A gk B WG IE o
receivables for which there was no recent history of default.
21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 21. 4521 {F 75 38 4 2 A\ Y 1 46 7
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS i
Group
£ |
2011 2010
—F AR R R
HK$’000 HK$°000
BT T W T T
Listed equity investments, kiR E
at market value: FETAE ¢
Hong Kong B 19,652 15,677
The above equity investments at 31 March 2010 and 2011 were LA R RER R —F=EA=T—H
classified as held for trading. ZHEMBEHI B RFE-S -
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22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2. B1ERBEEMHEH
Group Company
45 1 A
2011 2010 2011 2010
Rk CRRE DRk DR
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

T T T T T T T oL

Cash and bank balances Bl S SRAT i A7 32,833 36,619 146 165
Time deposits AR 31,522 31,466 = =
Cash and cash equivalents BeRBE&SFMHEER 64,355 68,085 146 165
Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank AT &R H IR M DL B ) 2 i E
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying B - EMEMERENF—HE+TNHZ
periods of between one day and fourteen days depending on the AFEBEES > HPEREBR R EEK
immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at P 3% R4S H =22 58 1 30 17 R R e BRI B o 6R
the respective short term time deposit rates. The bank balances BRI EARENm A EE2
are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of AT o
default.
23. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES 23. HEAS B 50 ek B S R
An aged analysis of the trade and bills payables as at the end of PSR > BB E AN EMNE SRR K
the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: RRZIRB SR
Group
£y |
2011 2010
—R——p —2 -2
HKS$°000 HKS$’000
YT BT T
Within 1 month RPN 38,617 47,531
The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally HEAT B 5 B ik s f B M — iR 3230360 H PR 45
settled on terms of 30 to 60 days. £f o
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24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 24, 30 i M A5) 3k D % HE T £ A
Group Company
e Al
2011 2010 2011 2010
Rk SRBE Rk BB
HKS$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HKS$’000

T T T T T T BT

Other payables HAth JE A5 35K I 846 12,015 = =

Accruals JE £ 7,055 5,650 509 512
7,901 17,665 509 512

Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an average term HAEAZE RS » EEMEHAE=M/A -

of three months.

25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK 25. 78 ST A B 2 BUAT B
BORROWINGS
2011 2010
SR —E R
Effective Effective
interest interest
Group rate  Maturity HK$’000 rate Maturity HK$’000
e | BEBAR #AWME BT EEMNX /A EWTT
Current L]
Short term loan JHE IR A 61400 B K 1 month
— unsecured 1.20% —M A 15,000 = = =
Trust receipt loans S 445 5T 1-3 months 1-2 months
— unsecured e b £k 1.03% 1-3f6 A 133,221 0.89% 1-2f H 56,981
148,221 56,981
All short term loan and trust receipt loans are denominated in A SN SR RETWIEER L ICEHE - &
Hong Kong dollars, bear interest at floating interest rates and are BRI RS > W E R —4E N EE -

repayable within one year.
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26. DEFERRED TAX 26. Y& %t B H
The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the RAENBLEREABERAREEZZTHWNT :
year are as follows:
Deferred tax liabilities Y %iE B 0 £ 4%
Group - 2011 Bl -4
Losses available
Accelerated for offsetting
tax against future
depreciation taxable profits Total
W i) DA LK 2R
o 2 B o B e
it 68 2l 11 Bt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
BT YT BY T
At 1 April 2010 R —FFENHA—H (1,733) 852 (881)
Deferred tax charged AR AR BE A W 25 3 A 0 Bk
to the income statement Z B ERLIE (M 7E10)
during the year (note 10) (165) (112) (277)
At 31 March 2011 RoF—-—HF=H=1+—H (1,898) 740 (1,158)
Deferred tax assets Y %€ B I
Group - 2011 Bl - —F——4f
Losses available
Accelerated for offsetting
tax against future
depreciation taxable profits Total
W JH DL BN 2R
o 2 BE ¥ SR BE ik A
E//% 68 2 s 11 H5t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
B¥TIT BT BY T
At 1 April 2010 W_F—FFMA—H (860) 3,821 2,961
Deferred tax credited/(charged) A< 4F B i i 75 3% 9 A
to the income statement (1 BR) Z B ERLIE (K 7E10)
during the year (note 10) 42 42) -
At 31 March 2011 W —-—H=ZA=+—H (818) 3,779 2,961
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26. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 26. EHEBLE (44)
Deferred tax liabilities 3B %€ B I £ 4%
Group - 2010 - =R B

Losses available

Accelerated for offsetting
tax against future
depreciation taxable profits Total
A DA SR 2R
Jon 32 At I JRE SR A ¥
e 8 Z i 1R st
HKS$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
BT BT BT T
At 1 April 2009 P _RRNLFENHA—H (1,608) 967 (641)
Deferred tax charged AR PE A WA 3 A 1 Bk
to the income statement Z BRI (M #E10)
during the year (note 10) (125) (115) (240)
At 31 March 2010 R-F—FEZH=+—H (1,733) 852 (881)
Deferred tax assets NE %t BE Ve %
Group - 2010 e L et Sep 22
Losses available
Accelerated for offsetting
tax against future
depreciation taxable profits Total
AR DA R AR
o 2 At I JRE SR A i
g T8 Z 1R st
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
-3 n -2 n W T o
At 1 April 2009 W_RENLFENHA—H (252) 5,245 4,993
Deferred tax charged to the AR FE R W N R 2
income statement during EIERLIE (MFE10)
the year (note 10) (608) (1,424) (2,032)
At 31 March 2010 RoF—FE=ZH=+—H (860) 3,821 2,961
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26.

27.

DEFERRED TAX (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had tax losses
arising in Hong Kong of approximately HK$68,066,000 (2010:
HK$39,125,000) that are available indefinitely for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies in which the
losses arose. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in
respect of the tax losses of approximately HK$40,689,000 (2010:
HK$10,804,000) as, in the opinion of the directors, it is uncertain
whether sufficient future taxable profits will be available against

which the tax losses can be utilised.

At the end of the reporting period, there was no significant
unrecognised deferred tax liability (2010: Nil) for taxes that
would be payable on the unremitted earnings of the Group’s
subsidiaries or associates.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment

of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

26. 3 %t B (4H)

PR BIR - AREEG B W E A ZBIEERE
#168,066,000% 7T (ZF — F4E : 39,125,000%
JC) W] AR AR R S BB 2 AR 2
% 2 HE SR LA o 75 $£940,689,000% 70 (=&
—RA4E 1 10,804,000 70 Z Bl IE 5 185 0 8 7 5
TR RBIEE » TN EFRLREGH EH
RSG5 M 4 1% 2 M SR F 73 R W B

ACER I 2 W A ) I R A TR 3
HORARME R Z IR IEBH R (ZF 4 ) -

NGRS 3 95 ) & A b & R R X 2
g o

SHARE CAPITAL 27. e AR
Shares BBy
2011 2010
R4 R
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT
Authorised: HE
400,000,000 ordinary shares 400,000,000 8% 4 Bt i
of HK$0.10 each 0.10% i Z 3% 78 i 40,000 40,000
Issued and fully paid: CBETRMR -
259,586,000 ordinary shares 259,586,000 8% 4 it T {4
of HK$0.10 each 0.10¥ 0 2 % 18 It 25,959 25,959
Share options ik It A

Details of the Company’s share option scheme are included in

note 28 to the financial statements.
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28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Eligible participants of the Scheme include the
Company’s directors, including independent non-executive
directors, other employees of the Company, and any executive
director or employee of any of the Company’s subsidiaries and

any entity in which the Group holds any equity interest.

The Scheme is valid and effective for a period of 10 years up
to 16 September 2012 after which no further share options will
be granted but the provisions of the Scheme shall remain in full
force and effect in all other respects. Share options complying
with the provisions of the Listing Rules which are granted
during the period of the Scheme and those remain unexercised
immediately prior to the end of the 10-year period shall continue
to be exercisable in accordance with their terms of grant as within
the share option period for which such share options are granted,
notwithstanding the expiry of the Scheme.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently
permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an amount
equivalent, upon their exercise, to 24,782,000 ordinary shares,
being 10% of the shares of the Company in issue on 2 September
2002 (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”). The Scheme Mandate Limit
was refreshed to 25,533,600, being 10% of the shares in issue as
at the date of annual general meeting of 2004. As at the date of
this report, the total number of shares available for issue under
the Scheme is 25,533,600 ordinary shares, representing 10% of
the total number of shares in issue on 2 September 2004, the
effective date of refreshment. The maximum number of shares
issuable under share options to each eligible participant in the
Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of
share options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’
approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director or substantial shareholder of
the Company, or to any of their associates, are subject to approval
in advance by the independent non-executive directors of the
Company (excluding an independent non-executive director who
is a grantee of the share options). In addition, any share options
granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-
executive director of the Company, or to any of their associates,
in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
time or with an aggregate value (based on the closing price of the
Company’s shares at the date of each grant) in excess of HK$5
million, within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’

approval in advance in a general meeting.

31 March 2011 —2——$=A=+—H

28. ik B At it =

Aoy T BRI R ) (Tt 1) S ok 38 2% 1l
B A R A R AR Z A E R 2 M
FontBZAEK2HEQHAAFTZ R ITE
W IERATEF - (R B RAA I E A
B A 55 VO B A AT S Ay bl i 2 B Z AT
Lfgg -

AEZAR R TE ERE-HEATA
H 2 1k o JLARHE A € 5452 th A7 o7 Ji B2 B > fHL5H
B Z R VTR A 2K o BT A AE A B b TR B ek 451
o SR EHE AR N ARSI
Ji 5 T A3 A AT 8 2 B M R o A3 T 9 % S T e
B Rf Z R AEATRE > A 2wt E W R

i AR 8 51 2 o 4% 2 0 R AT O A R
B T BUH %524,782,000/8 3% 38 B > K & AR A
WEZFFZHENLAZHOBITBRMZ10%
(TR1 3 452 HE R AHL) o sl o 432 A PR 2 O 3 307 %
25,533,600/8 > i Z T Y4B HREFE KT H
W B BATIRA 2 10% o WA 2538 H W >
P 3 AT Ak B AT B Oy B E 525,533,600/
BB M FRNESH ZHEHZ AR H B
BT R BB 2 10% » FEAEAT+ 4R H 1R
W BRI RSN EAAERS Y
BEAT 2 It o B0 8 B S 5 AR 2 ] AE AT i) Ry
2 T AT AR 2 1% o AT A3 — 3 3% e ok
PR < S B E - BB AE B ROR & b BRI SR A
;ﬁo

BYARNFER - BRI R E Z AT T8
AN Z SRR > JE % S USRS 2 B S JE AT
L (1 2 3% 7 i i bl 2 7 S AT
HHRAGHAN) o o > AR+ A8
352 T A A Tl 2 B M R s o R AT
5o o S AT o g B N e 2 A S B A A A
A2 T JRARA IR ] 2 © 34T B A 2.0.1% B Ho 48
i (3452 H W JBORE 3 H = Je Wi o i it 500 ) 0
hE EWICHE WA SR B RO T LIS
WA -
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28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 28. I B RE ST H (4)

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28
days from the date of offer, upon receipt of the duplicate offer
letter with the acceptance of the offer duly signed by the grantee
and the number of shares in respect of which the offer is accepted
clearly stated therein, together with payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 by the grantee to the Company provided
that no offer shall be open for acceptance after the expiry of the
Scheme or after the Scheme has been terminated. The terms and
conditions of the share options granted are determinable by the
directors on a case-by-case basis. Such terms and conditions
may include, but are not limited to (i) the subscription price; (ii)
the period within which the Company’s shares must be taken up
under the share option, which must not be more than 10 years
from the offer date; (iii) the minimum period, if any, for which a
share option must be held before it can be exercised; and (iv) the
performance target, if any, that must be achieved before the share

option can be exercised.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the
directors at their absolute discretion at the time of the making
of the offer which shall be stated in the letter containing the
offer, but may not be less than the highest of (i) the closing
price of the Company’s shares as stated in The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited’s daily quotation sheet on the offer date
which must be a trading day; (ii) the average closing price of
the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding
the offer date; and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s

shares.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or

to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

During the year, no share option (2010: Nil) was granted to the
directors and other employees of the Company or employees of
any of the Company’s subsidiaries and any entities in which the

Group holds any equity interests.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had no share
options outstanding under the Scheme (2010: Nil).
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29. RESERVES
(a) Group

29, fii fhi
(a) %M
A AR H AR AR N S L 4R BE 2 G T L s

TEM B A H Z AR EAR S B R N &2
5 o

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 44 of
the financial statements.

A BA R E A m B Al > i
S 4 [ 1 v B K e DA b e 4 A 3 AR
B2 W8 R AR E W Lo o 8 A R 2
S B R 2 AR o Y R ——4F
SAZ4—H » S A6HE A F Z I A fE
#41,607,000% 7C (=T —F4E : 1,228,000
WIC) o B AR 3R Gk A 4 o B T AR

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations for Foreign

Investment Enterprises, a portion of the profits of the
Group’s associates operating as Foreign Investment
Enterprises in Mainland China has been transferred to the
share of other reserves of associates. As at 31 March 2011,
the share of other reserves of associates of HK$1,607,000
(2010: HK$1,228,000) is non-distributable in nature and can

be utilised to offset the losses incurred. W8S P e Z 1R -
(b) Company (b) 4
Share Capital
premium redemption Retained
account reserve profits Total
B N Il
Bt i e M R Bt
Notes HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HKS$'000
Wit WL T EWFT BT
At 1 April 2009 RE-RFNLENH—H 90,557 579 76,350 167,486
Total comprehensive income AT 48 2 W £
for the year - - 42 42
Interim 2010 dividend ZR-FE PR E 12 = = (2,596) (2,596)
Proposed final 2010 dividend & —Z4E 1 i A 191 it B, 12 - - (7,788) (7,788)
At 31 March 2010 R-F-FF=ZH=1+—H
and 1 April 2010 "k_Z—FFENH—H 90,557 579 66,008 157,144
Total comprehensive income AT E 48 2 WL 25
for the year - - 6 6
Interim 2011 dividend S ) S 12 = = (2,596) (2,596)
Proposed final 2011 dividend ~—ZF——FHEEKY KL 12 = = (7,788) (7,788)
At 31 March 2011 R-F——F=H=Z+—H 90,557 579 55,630 146,766
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30. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities not

30. AR A

TR IR > S AR T B 25 4% o A ) A B
REMEWT

provided for in the financial statements were as follows:

Company
2
2011 2010
e o
HK$’000 HK$°000
BT W T T
Guarantees given to banks in Ih SR AT 45 AR B B A )
connection with facilities Z BT R
granted to subsidiaries 456,400 456,400

As at 31 March 2011, the banking facilities granted to the N _FB——HFE=H=+—H » KAF mRITIHE
R AR ZRITFERE > REHHZEEH
the Company were utilised to the extent of approximately #5148,221,000¥ 50 (—F—F4E : 56,981,000
HK$148,221,000 (2010: HK$56,981,000). JT) o

subsidiaries subject to guarantees given to the banks by

31. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

The Group and the Company leases certain land and buildings

3. BEBMA K

AC SR [ Fe A/ W 45 AR A B R R AL T
Betlh g o REMEVH Z R AR 2 —4F o

under operating lease arrangements. Leases are negotiated for

terms of one year.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group and the Company

T A IR > AR5 [ B A 2 ) AR 98 R AR AS T 4

had total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable B 2 R A 20 55 PR RE A 2 B A% A 4k

operating leases falling due as follows: HWT ¢
Group Company
£ | A

2011 2010 2011 2010

e e T = S e S

HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HKS$’000

W T HNET T T BT T

Within one year —4E N - 302 - 302
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32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS R.HEANLRY

(a) The Group had the following material transactions with its (a) 4N > AREEELEBENLF L TAEKR

related parties during the year: R

2011 2010
i S “E R
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Mt it W T T BT T
Rental and building I71) 38 4 A ) W B A 4
management fees received Tt 45 B
from related companies (1) 224 224
Commission received from an [ B 2 2 %] W EUAH 4=
associate (i) - 151
Sales of goods to associates Iha) B 2 > ) 8 B R (iii) 444 626
Transportation fees paid to IF) 1 8 2 W) S A+
an associate g 2 (iv) 42 30
Commission expense paid to Ih) Bk 8 oy W] S A 2
an associate 1/ 4 B 52 (v) - 68

Notes: MEE -

(i) Tenancy agreements were entered into with related parties () FEW T A By 0 Bk w2 %k
on mutually agreed terms. The leases can be extended and SO0 o A A AEH] R HAE » HEAE—F
renewed until terminated by either party. T UL IR

(ii) In the prior year, the commission received was charged (i) W B s WA TIR H W EH R
on normal commercial terms and in the ordinary course of o i — 5 T SE A R U ER -
business.

(iii) The sales of goods to associates were made by reference (iii) S AT SE R 2% m AR P it
to prices and conditions similar to those offered to other At 2 FE AL A% B Ak A T 7S E o
customers.

(iv) The transportation fees charged by an associate were (iv) WA w2 EigE 2% S A
determined by reference to the costs incurred by the associate. W) B B A 2 B T A

(v) In the prior year, the commission paid was charged on normal (v) W E—4EE > MEePZ TR H ¥ EBEBRE
commercial terms and in the ordinary course of business. o i — 5 T SEAGR R AT o

(b) Outstanding balances with related parties: (b) BB AL Z MR RS
Details of the amounts due from associates to the Group at NEER R » S A 5] 45 R A B 2 508
the end of the reporting period are included in note 16 to the PEIE  HUR M B HUE R 16 o

financial statements.
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32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 32. BN - 5 ()
(continued)
(c) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group: (c) AEMHFEEZIAEBZ WM :
2011 2010
TR R R
HK$’000 HK$’000
T T
Short term employee benefits S B @ A 8,379 7,869
Pension scheme contributions BAR & 58 2 Atk 370 364
Total compensation paid to EACEE: XS UNES XL
key management personnel Z T 4 8,749 8,233
Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in note EHW 4 2 b R R N BB A
8 to the financial statements. P 58 o
The related party transactions set out in note 32(a) above did bSO RE32 () B it 22 BR8N 38 5 3 S
not constitute connected transactions or continuing connected AR ST A R EAR 5 (3% i B RSB 14 AZE B
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. RFPZER) -
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 3.4 T HZ M
CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial PHCEBIR » £ 4R THZIEHEMEW T ¢

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2011 Group
it S S 3|
Financial assets
S A
Fair value through
profit or loss — Loans and
Held for trading receivables Total
Pl S — %A T £k K&
2 K E-YN JHE e sk Hm
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T T BT T
Due from associates R Wi Wi 7 2 ) — 91 91
Trade receivables JRE W BT 55 B ik - 40,725 40,725
Financial assets included in BIGRAEAKIE - W&
prepayments, deposits and T At E W iR 5k 2
other receivables (note 20) B (M aE20) - 601 601
Financial assets at fair value A BB RS AR
through profit or loss Z A& E B 19,652 = 19,652
Cash and cash equivalents B4 e Bl 4 I H = 64,355 64,355
19,652 105,772 125,424
2011 Group
it S 3 e 3|
Financial liabilities
& 14
Financial liabilities at
amortised cost
iz B Y A N M ¥ 4 i £ £
HK$°000
BHTI
Trade and bills payables JE A BT 5 MRk e 5 08 38,617
Financial liabilities included in other A, 5 A B ARk MR sk % M LA
payables and accruals (note 24) Z & B (M FE24) 846
Interest-bearing bank borrowings JE AT R B Z SR AT R 148,221
187,684
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 33. &M L2508 (H)
CATEGORY (continued)
2010 Group
R R 3|
Financial assets
W

Fair value through

profit or loss — Loans and
Held for trading receivables Total
FrAEEHE — AP Bk K
R A AR JRE Wk k]
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
¥ 3 n BT T BT T
Due from associates JRE W T 8 2 ] = 100 100
Trade receivables JRE W B 5 MR 3k = 44,209 44,209
Financial assets included in AR EATIE - 74
prepayments, deposits and T At HE WOR 3k 2
other receivables (note 20) &Rl B (M FE20) - 1,578 1,578
Financial assets at fair value WA PEB BB S AR
through profit or loss Z A MEE 15,677 - 15,677
Cash and cash equivalents Bl&AkB4A&S{EEH = 68,085 68,085
15,677 113,972 129,649
2010 Group
R R4 e
Financial liabilities
£ NER
Financial liabilities at
amortised cost
22 4 89 PR AR N R 1 <6 1 £
HK$’000
BT T
Trade and bills payables AT B 5 IR B 5 47,531
Financial liabilities included A 5 A A MR sk
in other payables and JE T B 2 4 b A
accruals (note 24) (Hfit24) 12,015
Interest-bearing bank borrowings A BT B Z SR AT B 56,981
116,527
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 33. &M TR 2 8 ()
CATEGORY (continued)
Financial assets
L A
Company
25
2011 2010
—E——Ap R R
Loans and Loans and
receivables receivables
£k B Fak &
JE Bk JRE Wk
HK$’000 HK$°000
BT T YT T
Due from subsidiaries JRE Wi Y S 2 ) 406 376
Financial assets included AR BT RE - TR
in prepayments, deposits and L Al R R ok = 4 b
other receivables (note 20) (Kt #20) 5 5
Cash and bank balances B4 B BRAT R A 146 165
557 546

Financial liabilities

£ NER
Company
VA
2011 2010
it S —E R
Financial Financial
liabilities at liabilities at
amortised cost amortised cost
BHADRA A R RN
Y 4B 1l £1 4 A <8 i £
HK$’000 HK$°000
BT T W T T
Due to subsidiaries JE A B i 2 ) 24,200 11,399
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34.FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s and the

34. 2 P B 2 1 2K

A A 1 J% A A ) 4l T B 2 R R A S A PR

Company’s financial instruments are as follows: T
Group £ M
Carrying amounts Fair values
G Wi L AV
2011 2010 2011 2010
TR —FFE —F -4 R R
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT o BT B W T
Financial assets A 1 E
Cash and cash equivalents B4 KB4 FMHIEH 64,355 68,085 64,355 68,085
Financial assets at fair value A PHZE BB
through profit or loss AR 2 4 & e 19,652 15,677 19,652 15,677
Financial assets included in BRI EAKIE -~ 5T &
prepayments, deposits and T At HE W B
other receivables Z 4l E 601 1,578 601 1,578
Trade receivables JE W B 5 Bk 40,725 44,209 40,725 44,209
Due from associates R W B 7 2 ] 91 100 91 100
125,424 129,649 125,424 129,649
Carrying amounts Fair values
& 1 L 2 F
2011 2010 2011 2010
Y e T = . e S
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T T YT BT T
Financial liabilities A AR
Trade and bills payables AT B 5 MR B 5 38,617 47,531 38,617 47,531
Financial liabilities 455 77 L At R AR MR 7K
included in other payables MG A
and accruals S H AR 846 12,015 846 12,015
Interest-bearing bank AR EZ
borrowings AT K 148,221 56,981 148,221 56,981
187,684 116,527 187,684 116,527
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34. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY (continued)

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s and the

Company’s financial instruments are as follows: (continued)

Company

34, 3 VAE B AT (B1)

A4 ) % A 2 ) 4 il B 2 BRI R A SF-AE A

(8D

Al

Carrying amounts

Fair values

SR i A AV
2011 2010 2011 2010
. R FE e S R
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT BT 7B W o
Financial assets SR
Due from subsidiaries JRE W i i 4 ] 406 376 406 376
Financial assets included in A $5 7 T AT 3OE
prepayments, deposits and 7T A S G At E W TR
other receivables KA A B 5 5 5 5
Cash and bank balances Bl 4 T AT S5 47 146 165 146 165
557 546 557 546
Carrying amounts Fair values
S i A AV
2011 2010 2011 2010
SRk SR CRE SRk DR ORE
HK$°000 HK$’000 HKS$’000 HK$’000
BT BT oT BT BT T
Financial liabilities A A
Due to subsidiaries JRE A i i 2 ] 24,200 11,399 24,200 11,399

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included

S A N BRI A P E DL TR AR 5 07
(5 78 5 M HH B R Ah) BT 50 T YT 22 5 6
A o

at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced
or liquidation sale.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate

T35 5 Be st T A A &2 P

the fair values:

Cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, trade and bills

B % 4 TR A B R Bl R Bl
S E - A SRk - FEAT B 5 IRk & R
5 - AAHF AT RKOHE ~ 5T 4 S S At R sk 2
<5l B I LA B A Rk % R R
SRR AR B Z SRAT B - HEE
O3 LR IE S B BEE S 4 ] 2k B LR
AR -

payables, financial assets included in prepayments, deposits
and other receivables, financial liabilities included in other
payables and accruals, interest-bearing bank borrowings, amounts
due from associates and amounts due from/to subsidiaries
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short
term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on quoted
market prices.

TR i B 2 4 1 B R T R
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34. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 34. A P8 Be A P28 (51

HIERARCHY (continued)

Fair value hierarchy 2R

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and AREBFEDL TS E R ESR T HZ AP

disclosing the fair value of financial instruments: 1 :

Level 1: fair values measured based on quoted prices B 0E MR A G ek A NS B 2
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 1B (R &) st 8 A Bl
liabilities

Level 2: fair values measured based on valuation techniques for BE B A OCYIEA P EA EE A
which all inputs which have a significant effect on the T L 2 ] e T % 1) i L i A ) A
recorded fair value are observable, either directly or {87 ¥ v & A FE
indirectly

Level 3: fair values measured based on valuation techniques for W= A IR AR BB W B A 3 iR (R E
which any inputs which have a significant effect on the HEREA) MHCHIEAFEHAE
recorded fair value are not based on observable market EiS- A e Y YN O R
data (unobservable inputs) NP

Assets measured at fair value as at 31 March 2011: R oE——FE=H =1+ —HHBRANFHEGFTEZE

JE
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

oW B B=w L)
HK$000  HK$°000  HK$’000  HK$’000
#WTL #BWFTL EBWFTLT EBWFTI

Equity investments at fair value & T H 75 B 18 £
through profit or loss AR Z HE i & 19,652 = = 19,652
Assets measured at fair value as at 31 March 2010: R OFE—FE= = — HIELA TG 22
JEE ¢
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
B B = A5t
HK$’000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$’000
WwhETon T BETo #WTT
Equity investments at fair value WA FEERER
through profit or loss AR ZHE R & 15,677 = = 15,677
During the year ended 31 March 2011, there were no transfers of NREFE——E=H=1+—HIL4EFE =
fair value measurements into or out of Level 3 (2010: Nil). Jig W A s 2 B (R — AR fE) o
As at 31 March 2011, the Company did not hold any financial NB——4FE=H=1+—H > KAFA W EFEH
instruments measured at fair value (2010: Nil). EMUAFPEFSEZEH T H(CE—F44

) -
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 35. B %5 el B 4% BIL H B2 R BOR
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise interest- A A [ 2 9 A ik TR A ZE A A B 2 SR AT
bearing bank borrowings, and cash and short term deposits. The SREBEEREHEHER S54SR THAZ
main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for FEHB G AEREBH Z SEE o  KREFHES
the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial W UK 5 B ik e W Ak B 5 R ik e B 9 A 45 AL
assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade and bills e AR THEREEEEL -

payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The Group also entered into derivative transactions, including a ARE B IRFT AT T AR 5 (855 2 A E A
forward currency contract. The purpose is to manage the currency A1) > B A A 4 ] 4% P A A 2 1 W TR B o
risk arising from the Group’s operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments RIS 45 1B 2 4 il T L 28 A 2 = O L B 4 ) 3R
are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity JECBE ~ AR B~ AR B R B AR B
risk and equity price risk. The board of directors reviews and BEREE A R B o EF B NEE S A IE
agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are LB 2 R EBURME A .

summarised below.

Interest rate risk 3 b, B

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest 7 A5 B 28 AR I T 35 R ZR A AL 2 JEl B s B E AR 4
rates relates primarily to the Group’s cash and cash equivalents BER4ERRESEEE Y ZHAN RSB 258
and short term debt obligations with floating interest rates. WEEEEAER -

The Group’s funding policy uses short term interest-bearing debts 2 4 [H] 2 4 SR T A e 1 2B A A R B =2 A
to finance its working capital requirements. The Group borrows BB EEE ST o ANEEEERFEHHN
mainly at floating interest rates. ALK o

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably T Y 4L B 2 BB i s R S A 45 3] R 25 e
possible change in Hong Kong dollar interest rate, with all other TR S e (A HMEZ4FAR
variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (through ) ZHRE (BRBR4A LB 4ASHIEHHEZE R
the impact on cash and cash equivalents and floating rate fE SRR 28 ) o ] 2R Bl B A A 5] 2 B HE 3
borrowings) and the Group’s equity. There is no impact on the =% 30

Company’s equity.
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

35. Yo 5 M B 4 B R e SR ()

Interest rate risk (continued) F R B (5)
Group
£y
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in in profit (decrease)
basis points before tax in equity *
3 B BE il 6t A B 2
Bm, () Bim, (W5) Bim, (W)
HK$’000 HK$°000
W T T BT T
2011 it S
Hong Kong dollar Wt 50 (419) -
Hong Kong dollar WL (50) 419 -
2010 R FE
Hong Kong dollar Wt 50 56 -
Hong Kong dollar Wt (50) (56) -
*  Excluding retained profits R EAER B A
Foreign currency risk A B M, B

A A G 1) 2 S B R B WET RRZ MR
S TIAASE E 2 sh e £ W e > Bk > ARLEH
S 488 T KA E T B o g 9 O SO T 6 > BRI
b > ACHR A B DA SR 0 A B Z SRAT 45 B X% HE A
5 9 R ok e 5% R 2 A B R e A 8 s D D o

The Group has no significant foreign currency risk because its
business is principally conducted in Hong Kong and most of the
transactions are denominated in the Group’s functional currency.
Since the Hong Kong dollar is pegged to the United States dollar,
the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk in respect of the
bank balances and trade and bills payables denominated in United

States dollars is considered to be minimal.
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 35. B 5 el B 4% BIL H B R BOR (58)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk £ £ B, B3

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy ARAEE BB NAREBRTEZRPEITR
customers. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to 5 o A E Z BOR > B BRIk ST
trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. RHWMER s HELBRGEEZERF I
In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing A > A A5 [ 4 A L X R A5 B 2 TE L > T AR £
basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant. 8] = 358 W R\ B 36 AS E K o

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which AREMMUIFER S LRESSEEE - BIRESA
comprise cash and cash equivalents, amounts due from T FKIE ~ oA R KB KA FE B MR A
associates, other receivables and financial assets at fair value IR 2 4 il % i 2 Hofh B 35 2 2 1 8 B IR
through profit or loss, arises from default of the counterparty, H¥ A » e RS R %S TR R
with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these 8 o AN ] PR 42 H 4 il 3 A T AR 2 A B0 JRL RS
instruments. The Company is also exposed to credit risk through i — 2 SR R B R B 3o P &g o

the granting of financial guarantees, further details of which are
disclosed in note 30 to the financial statements.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy PR A 45 [ (R BELME R W) Sfef T SE R R P AT
customers, there is no requirement for collateral. Concentrations 5 MAFEALMIEMH o | RE SR BEE
of credit risk are managed by analysis by customer/counterparty. B IRE P A8 5 T AT P R 4 b - 28
There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within the A 4L 2> 5 HE IR sk 2 & P SRR 404 B
Group as the customer bases of the Group’s trade receivables are W2 > WA AE T PN A 4 T KA B A R B o

widely dispersed.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to ZAS 45 [H Y5 H FE W 5 R R B A T Wk E 2 4E
credit risk arising from trade and other receivables are disclosed B R B 2 w5 A0 SRR A ) Pl R A B A A B s 19
in notes 19 and 20, respectively, to the financial statements. %20 °

Liquidity risk it ) % 4 P, B

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a AREHBRFEABHHERBELGH T H &
recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity HELSEHRER - W THEFELEMT LK
of both its financial instruments and financial assets (e.g., trade L (B SRR BRI H &K E K
receivables) and projected cash flows from operations. BEE B AT E

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between A S B Y R AR 725 8 P ZE A B 2 BRAT
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of interest- B o R4 4 4 4 1 B N e Y P A o

bearing bank borrowings.
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 35. B %5 b B 4% B H BE B B0R (58)

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as
at the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual

undiscounted payments, is as follows:

Group

L h e L BE (%)

38 CLRT A0 AR B B > DL S5 A 4 I
IR MBEREBNA

£

Within 1 year

—4EN
2011 2010
e S o R
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BHFT
Trade and bills payables JE A BT 5 MRk e 5 08 38,617 47,531
Other payables JH Al IR A 5 T 846 12,015
Interest-bearing bank borrowings JH AR B Z SRAT B 148,545 57,035
188,008 116,581

Company

At the end of the reporting period, the amounts due to
subsidiaries of HK$24,200,000 (2010: HK$11,399,000) and
guarantees given to banks in connection with facilities granted
to subsidiaries of HK$148,221,000 (2010: HK$56,981,000) were

repayable on demand.

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity
securities decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity
indices and the values of individual securities. The Group is
exposed to equity price risk arising from individual equity
investments classified as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (note 21) as at 31 March 2011. The Group’s listed
investments are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and are

valued at quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every 3%
change in the fair values of the equity investments, with all other
variables held constant and before any impact on tax, based on
their carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period.
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 35. B %5 b B 4% B H BE B B0R (58)

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Equity price risk (continued)

JBe 554 fEUH ML BB (%5)

Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in in profit (decrease)
fair value before tax in equity *
2V By Bt i B i+
Bm,~ A8, Bm,
(W) (W) (W)
% HKS$’000 HK$°000
BT B W T
2011 S
Investments listed in Hong Kong Hs LT RE
— Held for trading —FIEEHE 3 590 -
3 (590) -
2010 R R
Investments listed in Hong Kong BB EHRE
— Held for trading —FEHE 3 470 =
(3) (470) -

& Excluding retained profits

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and
to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business

and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue
new shares. The Group is required to comply with certain
externally imposed capital requirements set out in certain of its

banking facilities letters.

As at 31 March 2011, there was no indication of breach of
covenants and the Group complied with the externally imposed
capital requirements. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes for managing capital during the years ended
31 March 2011 and 31 March 2010.

o LA R B A

AR

ACHR ) B A B B R e AR AC SR A B
3 5 A A S 2 D U A T e e e AR
Pl 3R DL S 4 S SR B 3 5 KA B R R £ -

A 45 AR 9% A0 U R A 2 S A T B AR A Sl
T DA B o T A F B B A K o ARG I AT
) S B R 2 R S ~ 1 JBE SRR [ AR o B AR
JBe o A% 4 [ ZEAY £ 2L T SRAT Bk e R oK P
Z T AN ot i A R

RoF AR EAORR R 2
BES > T A M 3 5M G I 2 A BLE ©
RE-F-—HZA=t AR B -BE=
A=A FALAE R - BRI A~ BOR
TR 6 BLSE T -

—B— 555
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3s.

36.

37.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management (continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
interest-bearing bank borrowings divided by equity attributable
to equity holders of the Company. The gearing ratio is regularly
reviewed by senior management. The gearing ratios as at the end
of the reporting periods were as follows:

35. Yo 5 M B 4 B R e SR ()

AR (A7)

ACHE A R RTE A B R B A HSER
RS A B Z BRAT B0 R DA 2 ) B 25 P A
B AV 18 25 P 15 B R o £ A B Rl v A
JE SRR o REEBIR > REEARKRNT

Group
3L

2011 2010

S EFE

HK$’000 HKS$’000

W T 7 BT

Interest-bearing bank borrowings JH AR B Z RAT B 148,221 56,981
Equity attributable to equity BRI A A R RS B R

holders of the Company P HE £ 472,785 481,231

Gearing ratio HAEEAR LR 31% 12%

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

As further explained in note 2.2 to the financial statements, due
to the adoption of new and revised HKFRSs during the current
year, the presentation of certain items and balances in the
financial statements have been revised to comply with the new
requirements. Accordingly, certain comparative amounts have
been reclassified and restated to conform with the current year’s
presentation, and a third statement of financial position as at 1
April 2009 has been presented.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue
by the board of directors on 27 June 2011.
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w2 R A B 220 — 2 R > R AR
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